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IN THE EASTERN CARIBBEAN SUPREME COURT 
WGH COURT OF JUSTICE 
VIRGIN ISLANDS 
COMMERCIAL DIVISION 

CLAIM NO: BVmc (COM) 2017 /0193 

I. Applicant
2. Paul Pretlove

3. I" Affidavit

4. Exhibit PP�I
5. Sworn: 13 August 2024
6. Filed: 13 Augw;t 2024

IN THE MATTER OF FCI MARKETS INC. (IN LIQUIDATION). 

AND IN THE MATTER OF THE INSOLVENCY ACT 2003. 

AND IN THE MA1TER OF AN APPLICATION BY PAUL PRETLOVE AS 
LIQUIDATOR OF FCI �TS INC. 

FIRST AFFIDAVIT OF PAUL PRETLOVE 

I, PAUL PRETLOVE, of Interpath (BVI) Limited, 4th Floor, LM Business Centre, Fish Lock 

Road, Road Town, Tortola, VG 1110, British Vu-gin Islands. MAKE OAm and SAY as follows: 

I. INTRODUCTION

1. 1 am a Certified Accountant and a Managing Director of Interpath (BVI) Limited

("lnterpatbj. I am licensed as an insolvency practitioner in the BVI and the United Kingdom.

2. I submit this affidavit in my capacity as the Court-appointed liquidator ofFCI Markets Inc. (in

liquidation) (the "Company" or .. FCI Markets"), in support of my application for the Court

to sanction FCI Markets compromisin g a claim made against it by Exential Investments Inc.

(in liquidation) ("Exemtial") on 3 December 2022 (the "Exeatial Claim •• ), as more fully

described in section 2 below (the "Sanction Application'').
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3. I believe that the facts stated in this affidavit are true. Save where indicated to the contrary, I

make this affidavit from facts and matters within my own personal and professional

knowledge. Where the facts are not within my own knowledge, the facts are true to the best of

my knowledge, information, and belief, and I have identified the sources of the information.

4. Nothing in this affidavit is intended to waive privilege in respect of any matter referred to and

privilege by mere reference to such matters is not thereby waived. Insofar as it is necessary to

place privileged material before the Court, I will do so under seal.

5. There is now produced and shown to me and exhibited hereto a bundle of paginated documents

marked "PP-1" which contains true copies of documents to which I refer below. References to

page numbers in this Affidavit are to pages in the said bundle marked PP-1.

6. In this affidavit, I do not repeat the background to the liquidation of the Company and the steps

I have taken in the liquidation to date. These points are covered in eleven witness statements I

have previously submitted to the Court in prior applications for (among other things) approval

of fees and expenses, and sanction of proposed steps. However, I will refer to those witness

statements where necessary or useful to do so in this affidavit, and place those witness

statements before the Court in the hearing bundle for this Application. I will also refer to the

affidavit of Mr. William Ferguson dated 2 November 2017 which was placed before the Court

at the hearing of the application to appoint liquidators over the Company.

7. The remainder of this affidavit is structured as follows:

7.1. Section 2: The Exential Claim.

7 .2. Section 3: Claims Admitted by the Liquidator to date.

7.3. Section 4: Liquidator's Reasons to Settle the Exential Claim.

7.4. Section 5: The Settlement Agreement.

7.5. Section 6: Conclusion.
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II. THE EXENTIAL CLAIM

8. As I have explained in my previous witness statements, it appears that the Company was one

of several entities that was used to effectuate a substantial fraud operated out of the United

Arab Emirates. The fraud was conceived and perpetrated by Mr. Syndey Lemos (who was later

arrested and sentenced to over 500 years in prison in the UAE for his role in the fraud).

9. The Company's sole member and director was Mr. Jeffrey Leahy, a resident of Australia. To

date, I have not identified any evidence to suggest that Mr. Lemos owned or controlled the

Company (unlike Exential, as I explain below).

10. The background to the fraud is conveniently set out in the Exential Claim itself, and I

respectfully invite the Court to review that in full: [PPl/1-33). For convenience, I adopt the

same defined terms in this affidavit that are used in the Exential Claim.

J 1. For completeness, however, I do not agree with every factual and legal allegation in the 

Exential Claim. In particular: 

11.1. I do not agree that it can be inferred that the Company (or Mr. Leahy) was necessarily a 

knowing and active participant in the fraud. This allegation in the Exential Claim appears 

to be based solely on inference. Moreover, it seems inconsistent with some of the 

evidence I have uncovered in my investigations to date (addressed at paragraph 26 

below). Even the Exential Claim, in its Appendix, only suggests that Mr. Leahy had 

"supplemental involvemenf' in the fraud: [PPl/30]. 

11.2. I do not accept that the Company "never in fact conducted any investing/or or on behalf 

of any investors in the Programme/Exential Group, the funds were ultimately 

misappropriated for the benefit of Mr Lemos and his associates", as alleged at paragraph 

63(b) of the Exential Claim. My investigations have revealed that the Company held 

active accounts with ADS, Lmax, and IKON - all independent financial institutions -

that were used to conduct large volumes of genuine foreign exchange transactions. It 

seems to me, without forming a settled view, that such trading is consistent with the 
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Company operating as a broker (i.e. placing trades on behalf of investors). It is also 

inconsistent with the Company acting as a vehicle to misappropriate investors' funds and 

pass them on to Mr. Lemos. I also have not identified any evidence of payments to Mr. 

Lemos from the Company's accounts. 

11.3. It appears to me that Exential was a largely dormant entity which did not play any real or 

actual role in managing or handling investors' monie . In particular, I am not aware of 

any direct dealings between Exential and investors, or any investors paying any monies 

to Exential itself. Moreover, my investigation has not revealed any instance where 

Exential itself ( as opposed to some other affiliated entity) was an investment manager, or 

held any power of attom . for any investors holding accounts with the Company. 

12. It is relevant to note that I am not aware of any payments made (in either direction) as between

the Company and Exential, or that the Company ever held any funds that were passed through

Exential. However, I accept that Exential was affiliated with three entities identified by Mr.

Ferguson as the "fund manager'' entities, namely Exential Mideast Commercial Brokers LLC

("Exential ME"), Exential Mideast Investments LLC ("Exential Investments ME"), and

Tadawul ME LLC ("Tadawul"). 1 As set out in the Exential Claim, all of these entities - unlike

the Company - were, to varying degrees, under the direct common ownership and control of

Mr. Lemos, as set out in paragraphs 12-18 of the Exential Claim.

13. Exential was wound up by the BVI Court on 27 July 2020. Mr. Russell Crumpler and Mr.

David Standish- at that time, both of KMPG - were appointed as joint liquidators of Exential
("Exential Liquidators"). As I have explained in prior witness statement , Mr. Crumpler later

left KPMG to join Teneo (BVI) Limited. and Mr. Standish joined Interpath Ltd, which is an

English company affiliated with Interpath (BVI) Limited.2

1 Exhibit WFl/135.
2 There are strict barriers at lnterpath both in the BVI and England to ensure that the two liquidations are conducted by entirely
separate personnel at Interpath, and that there is no exchange of confidential infonnation between the two estates. I do not share in 
the fees of the Exential liquidation and Mr. Standish does not share in the fees of the FCI Markets liquidation. 
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14. The Exential Liquidators submitted the Exential Claim to me on 3 December 2022. (For

completeness, I note that they had previously submitted a vague and unparticularized proof of

debt that did not specify the causes of action or quantum of damages relied on.)

15. The Exential Claim (as revised and resubmitted) now included fuller particulars of the factual

basis of the claim, the legal causes of action relied upon by the Exential Liquidators- including

unlawful means conspiracy, dishonest assistance, or breach of a purported Quincecare duty

owed to Exential - and the damages claimed.

16. The Court will recall that, in the first instance, I instructed Collas Crill to advise me on the

Exential Claim __ _

17. Collas Crill wrote to Stewarts on 1 May 2023 [PPl/34-36) noting that it was unlikely that

Exential could establish a Quincecare claim. At the same time, however, Collas Crill also

expressed their "initial view" that "assuming Exential BVI can provide evidence of its losses

(said to be US$205,029,317.47) and causation, Exential BVIwas likely to have a claim against

FCI Markets on the basis of either an unlawful means conspiracy or on the ground that FCI

Markets dishonestly assisted Mr. Lemos in the commission of the Fraud. However, at this time,

it is not apparent that Exential BVI had ever deposited or transferred monies into any of FCI

Markets' accounts in the UAE, where the Liquidator had been able to obtain information

pertaining to FCI Markets' accounts" (ibid.) Collas Crill also expressed doubt that there was

any "nexus between Exential BVI and FCI Markets, such that the former could claim to be a

creditor of the latter".

18. Stewarts' reply, dated 20 June 2023, is exhibited at [PPl/37-43]. Among other things, Stewarts

reiterated the view of the Exential Liquidators that Exential played an active role in the Exential

Group. and sought to justify the claimed losses on the basis that the "the amount pleaded in

the Proof under the unlawful conspiracy and the dishonest assistance heads of claim is

approximately US$205 million. This figure represents the total quantum of submitted claims in

the liquidation of Exential BVI as at the date of the Proof"
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19. The reply goes on to state th.at:

"12. On the unlawful conspiracy claim, in summary, had FCI Markets not combined 
together/acted in concert with Mr Lemos and his associates pursuant to an 
agreement or common understanding with an intention to cause financial loss to 
Exential BVI (and the wider Exential Group) by unlawful means (which is palpable 
from the evidence set out and annexed to the Proof), then Exential BVI would not 
be insolvent and facing liabilities of approximately US$205 million. 

13. In relation to the dishonest assistance claim, it is beyond doubt that Mr Lemos
breached his fiduciary duty to Exential B VI by causing it to be used as part of the
Fraud and eventually incur creditors' claims amounting to approximately US$205
million. FCI assisted Mr Lemos with the breach of fiduciary duty by holding itself
out as a licensed foreign exchange broker for the Exential Group yet never
conducted any investment for or on behalf of any investors and either overlooked
or actively assisted the dissipation of investor funds to Mr Lemos and his
associates. As such, FCI Markets is liable to pay equitable compensation, which
would be calculated by reference to the quantum of submitted claims in the Exential
BVI liquidation (as we explain further below).

14. We acknowledge that the loss to Exential BVJ under both the unlawful means
conspiracy claim and dishonest assistance claim is not based on the value of
specific payments made from Exential BVI to FCI Markets. As we explain below,
the law applicable to both damages for unlawful conspiracy, and for dishonest
assistance, allows a claimam to seek damages or compensation based on losses
caused by conspiracy and/or breach of duty."

20. Stewarts then went on to explain what they said the legal grounds were for claiming these

damages. I will leave it to my legal practitioners to address these points further in their legal

submissions.

21. At this juncture, given the magnitude and complexity of the Exential Claim, I considered it

prudent to obtain the advice of Kings Counsel, and (through Kobre & Kim) I instructed

Alexander Cook KC to advise on the merits of the Exential Claim as supplemented by the

correspondence from Stewarts on 20 June 2023.

22. 
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Ill. CLAIMS ADMITTED BY THE LIQUIDATOR TO DATE 

23. In previous witness statements, I noted that I expected to admit creditor claims in the amount

of approximately $4 million. Following a detailed adjudication process, I now expect that

figure to be approximately $1.1 million.

24. For the convenience of the Court, I give here a brief overview of the basis for that estimate.

25. The sources of my information in this section are as follows:

25. l. The Statement of affairs prepared by Mr. Leahy ("SOA"): [PPl/44-50).

25.2. The Company's documents provided by Mr. Leahy. 

25 .3. Claim forms and documents provided by persons claiming to be creditors to substantiate 

their claims, including account opening documents and powers of attorney. samples of 

which are exhibited at (PPl/51-56]. 

25.4. Email records obtained from the Company's email servers, including the "FCI 

Statements" (as defined below) which were attached to some emails sent by the Company 

to investors. 

25.5. Company's bank statements recovered from banks and financial institutions, including 

Bank of Baroda, Mashreq Bank, Westpac and Emirates Islamic Bank, and security 

statements ADS Securities (ADS), IKON, and LMAX. 

25.6. US$ nominated transactions' records recovered from the correspondent banks situated in 

the United States. 
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26. The SOA sets out a list of creditors of the Company identified by Mr. Leahy. In general, I have

come to the view that, while the SOA may have some inaccuracies, for the most part it is likely

to provide a reasonably accurate and reliable picture of which persons are creditors of the

Company, and in what amounts. That is for at least the following reasons:

26.1. The list of creditors in the SOA broadly matches the investors with open, positive-balance 

accounts that are identified in an internal Company document entitled "Client Claims" 

file that the Liquidators retrieved from the Company's email servers. The Client Claims 

file, after certain computation, identifies an "equity amount" for each investor's account, 

which generally is an exact match to the amount of most of the claim listed for each 

creditor in the SOA. There is therefore a consistency between the SOA and Client Claims 

file. 

26.2. The Client Claims File, like the SOA, does not identify the basis for computing the 

"equity amount" of each investor account. However, I have been able to retrieve, from 

the Company's email servers, a number of account statements for many individual 

investors who had emaiJed the Company to request their account statements and balances 

("FCI Statements").3 Among other things, the FCI Statements appear to detail: account 

numbers for each investor's account or accounts, deposits made by the investors, foreign 

exchange transactions made by the investor or by the power of attorney on behalf of the 

investor, and in some cases, withdrawals from the accounts. For the most part, the final 

balance shown on the FCI Statements is consistent with the creditor claims identified on 

the SOA, and the Client Claims file. They therefore provide a means for me to verify the 

"equity amounts" in the Client Claims file and the creditor balances identified on the 

SOA. 

26.3. I am unable to say categorically whether the transactions identified in the FCI Statements 

are themselves real or not, but on balance, I believe that they are real. I note that: 

3 To be clear, only a subset of investors requested and received FCI Statements. However, l believe l have seen sufficient samples
of the FCI Statements to allow to me to form the views that I have set out in this affidavit on the FCI Statements. 
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26.3.1. I have identified significant - and, on the face of it, genuine - trading in the 

foreign exchange markets conducted by the Company, at independent financial 

institutions such as ADS, IKON and LMAX. This evidence seems consistent 

with the Company acting as a broker to implement trades made by the investor, 

orby a person acting on the investor's behalf (e.g. through a power of attorney). 

This does not seem to be consistent with the Company allegedly deceiving 

investors into thinking it was conducting trading when it was not. 

26.3 .2. In many cases, I have been able to match investor deposits and withdrawals 

identified on the FCI Statements with data on bank statements that I have 

independently obtained from banks. 

26 .3 .3. Further, the FCI Statements are not the same as the statements given to investors 

by the money manager entities, which appear to have depicted fictitious trading 

gains and profits. On the contrary, the FCI Statements often depict trading 

losses. This does not seem consistent with the Ponzi-type fraud that is described 

in the Exential Claim.4 

26.3.4. I keep in mind that it is possible that losses shown in the FCI Statements may, 

themselves, be a device by which the Company could defraud investors of their 

investments, assuming the Company was an active participant in the fraud. 

However, as explained above, from my investigations to date, it appears to me 

that real trading was conducted, that the Company was not a knowing 

participant in the fraud, and that the transactions shown in the FCI Statements 

were not fictitious. 

27. Given that the SOA appears to be consistent with the Client Claims file and the FCI Statements,

and that the FCI Statements themselves appear to be reliable, I have taken the view that creditor

4 Paragraph 8 of the Exential Claim says, '"It is understood that initially purported "profits" were paid out to some investors in the 
period from 20 I I and 20 I 5. However, from around 2016 onwards, the scheme stopped paying out. When investors requested the 
withdrawal of the monies they had invested and/or the purported profits in their accounts their requests were denied, or met with 
excuses, or promises to pay out the monies which were never fulfilled." 
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claims should be assessed in the first place by reference to the SOA. Of course, each claim is 

fact specific, but I have generally taken the following approach: 

27 .1. Where the creditor claim matches the SOA, I would be minded to admit it in full. 

27 .2. Where the creditor is not identified on the SOA, or the claim does not match the SOA, I 

would generally be minded to reject the claim ( or, at least the balance of the claim insofar 

as it exceeds the account balances set out in the SOA), unless the claim can be 

substantiated through other means such as proof of deposits, FCI Statements (where 

available), the Client Claims file, or emails or confirmations from the Company of other 

account balances that are not disclosed in the Client Claims file. 

28. Regrettably, I am bound to bring two further points to the attention of the Court:

28. l. Firstly, that many creditors who are claiming to be creditors of the Company in fact

appear to be creditors of other entities involved in the fraud. The Company does not 

appear to have ever held an account for these creditors or any monies for them, and they 

do not appear on the SOA. As I am presently of the view that the Company, unlike 

Exential, was not a co-conspirator in the fraud, I take the view that it would be 

inappropriate and wrong in principle to admit these kinds of claims on the basis of 

unlawful means conspiracy or dishonest assistance as set out in Stewarts' letter of 20 June 

2023: [PPl/37-43). 

28.2. Secondly, a number of persons claiming to be creditors appear to have been less than 

completely honest or transparent when making and submitting their claim forms to me. 

For example, some creditors have sought to recover the full amounts of the investments 

they made with the Company, while failing to acknowledge that they received 

withdrawals from their accounts, which would obviously reduce the balance of the 

account. I have been able to identify these withdrawals from the FCI Statements or the 

Company's bank statements. In some cases, creditors have not disclosed the existence of 
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emails between the Company and the creditor stipulating their account balance, FCI 

Statements, or withdrawal requests. 

29. On the basis of the approach described in paragraph 27 above, I have reached the initial view

that I should admit claims in the liquidation of the Company in the amount of approximately

US$ 1.1 million. I have sent all creditors or persons claiming to be creditors notices informing

them whether or not I intend to admit or reject their claim, or a part of their claim (as the case

may be), and in each case provided them a deadline to provide further particulars or

documentation in support of their claims. These deadlines have varied across groups of

creditors, but the deadline for the final group was 12 August 2024 (save that I have pennitted

one creditor, Mr. Frank Briganti, an extra day in respect of his claims). I have received

responses from 109 creditors to these notices, but none of these responses have caused me to

take a different view to the one that I took in my original adjudication notice. (Generally, the

responses have confirmed the existence of creditor accounts with the Company that were

already known to me, or caused me to re-categorise certain creditors, without materially

changing the adjudication decision.) I note, however, that it is always possible that creditors

may seek to challenge my adjudication decisions in court.

IV. LIQUIDATOR'S REASONS TO SETTLE THE EXENTIAL CLAIM

30. I believe that it is in the best interests of creditors to compromise the Exential Claim for the

following reasons.

31. First, the damages that Exential seeks (in excess of US$ 200 million) are plainly enormous.

That sum far exceeds the value of the claims that I have admitted or expect to admit, which as

I have explained above are likely to amount to a little over US$ 1 million. If the Exential Claim

were to succeed, it would 'wipe out' the distributable funds to the other admitted creditors.

Such a result is plainly not in their interest.

32. Secondly, the sums that are intended be paid to Exential under the settlement agreement dated

25 June 2024 as between me, the Company, Exential, and the Exential Liquidators

("Settlement Agreement''), which is exhibited at [PPl/57-69], are not expected to adversely
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affect recoveries to admitted creditors. Based on my estimates to date, I believe that the 

Company will likely to be able to pay in ful] (or nearly in full) both admitted creditors and 

Exential, on the tenns of the Settlement Agreement. 

33. Thirdly, settling the Exential Claim, as opposed to litigating it, will allow me to make

distributions to admitted creditors on a faster time scale. Realistically, I cannot make even

interim distributions to admitted creditors until the disposition of the Exential Claim, and any

counterclaim filed by the Company against Exential5, has been clarified. I am eager to bring

the liquidation of the Company to a close and to make distributions to admitted creditors as

quickly as possible.

34. I now tum to the position of Mr. Leahy, as the sole contributory of the Company, who has an

interest in any potential surplus in the liquidation of the Company. For the reasons given below,

I consider that:

34.1. there is unlikely to be a surplus if the Exential Claim is litigated; and

34.2. litigating the Exential Claim is directly adverse to the interests of creditors. 

35. There would only be a surplus in the estate ifI were to reject the Exential Claim, and the Court

were to uphold any challenge to that adjudication decision. and the irrecoverable costs of

litigating the Exential Claim were less than the expected surplus

above, I consider that it would be contrary to the interests of creditors to "roll the dice" on 

litigating the Exentia] Claim, when such litigation may effectively extinguish their claims, and 

any potential surplus in the estate. 

' It appears to me. without fonning any final view, that if it were true that lhe Company were indeed a co-conspirator in the fraud 
with Exential as alleged in the Exential Claim, then it would likely follow that {i) I would need to admit additional claims in the 
liquidation oflhe Company, and (ii) the Company would, itself, have a counterclaim against Exential {and possibly other entities 
in lhe "Exential Group"} on exactly the same basis E.'lential is said to have a claim against the Company. 
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36. As far as Mr. Leahy is concerned, I believe it is also relevant for the Court to be aware that:

36.1. Mr. Leahy does not appear to have any expectation of there being any surplus according 

to the SOA signed by him: [PPl/44-50]. 

36.2. Mr. Leahy. in any event, (i) is currently an undischarged bankrupt following an order of 

the Federal Circuit and Family Court of Australia dated 11 August 2022 [PPtnl-72]; 

and (ii) owes the Company at least some US$ 700,000 under the terms of the order made 

by the Federal Court of Australia dated 11 May 2021: [PPl/70). 

V. THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

37. For the reasons set out in Section IV above, I have come to the view that it is in the best interests

of creditors and contributories that I compromise the Exential Claim.

38. I exhibit, at [PPl/57-69}, the Settlement Agreement dated 25 June 2024 that I have been able

to agree on my o, n behalf and on behalf of the Company with Exential and the Exential

Liquidators.

39. The agreement was drafted by the parties' legal practitioners. I do not waive any privilege in

my communications with my legal team, or in their advice to me on the Exential Claim and

the Settlement Agreement.

40. However, I wish to draw the Court's attention to certain features of the Settlement Agreement

that are plain on its face, and that I believe are likely to be germane to the Court's consideration

of the Sanction Application:

40.1. First, if the Court approves the Sanction Application, then Exential will become a creditor

of the Company in the amount of US$ 1,400,000. Under Clause 15.4, Exential does not 

obtain any security interest or priority interest over any funds in the liquidation estate. 
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40.2. Secondly, the amounts to be paid to Exential are to be paid in two stages, with the second stage not taking place until final distributions are made to admitted creditors. As noted above, 1 expect to be able to pay admitted creditors and Exential in full, or nearly in full. 
40.3. Thirdly. I do not make any admission ofliability on the Exential Claim in the Settlement Agreement (Clause 8). I am therefore not conceding that the Company was a knowing or active participant in the fraud. 
40.4. Fourthly, the Settlement Agreement makes clear at Clause 15.5 that nothing in the Settlement Agreement requires me or the Exential Liquidators to act in a manner contrary to the Insolvency Act 2003 or any other applicable law. 

VI. CONCLUSION

41. For the reasons given in this affidavit, I respectfully invite the Court to grant the SanctionApplication.

Affirmed/Sworn by the within named Paul Pretlove ) At: Rcrd fou,n 1 Jcr1mo., ✓vj� ..i.sktio )) On this li�<Jl, � i 4jUvf, � ) ---

Before me: ......... � ............... . SOLICTOR/ NOTARY PUBLIC 
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FCI Markets Inc. – In 
Liquidation 

The Insolvency Act, 2003 Form R184 
The Insolvency Rules, 2005 

Claim Form 

Rule 184 

Name of Proceeding: FCI Markets Inc. – In 
Liquidation  

Date of Appointment of Liquidator: 15 January 
2018 

1 Name of Creditor Exential Investments Inc.  

2 Address of Creditor 
3rd Floor, Banco Popular 
Building, Road Town, Tortola, 
British Virgin Islands, PO Box 
4467 

3 Total amount of claim as at the date of 
appointment of liquidator 

US$205,029,317.47 or 
alternatively US$185,000,000 

4 If total amount above includes outstanding 
uncapitalised interest, please state amount 

N/A 

5 

Give details of whether or not the whole or any 
part of the debt falls within any (and if so which) 
of the categories of preferential debts set out in the 
Insolvency Rules, 2005. 

Category: N/A 

Amount(s) claimed 
as preferential ($): 
N/A   

6 Particulars of how and when debt incurred See enclosed supporting evidence 

7 

Details of any documents by reference to which 
the debt can be substantiated [Note: the 
liquidator may call for any document or evidence 
to substantiate the claim at his discretion] 

See enclosed index listing 
supporting documents  

8 Particulars of any security held, the date it was 
given and the value of the security 

N/A 

PP1/1
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Signature of creditor or person authorised to act on  
his behalf 

Name in BLOCK LETTERS RUSSELL CRUMPLER 

9 

Position or relation to creditor In his capacity as Joint Liquidator 
of Exential Investments Inc.
acting without personal liability 
for and on behalf of himself and 
the Joint Liquidator David 
Standish of Interpath Ltd, 10 
Fleet Place, 
London EC4M 7RB 

Address 
Teneo BVI Ltd 
3rd Floor, Banco Popular 
Building, Road Town, Tortola, 
British Virgin Islands, PO Box 
4467 

PP1/2
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SUPPORTING EVIDENCE 

1. This supporting evidence for Exential BVI’s Claim Form is structured as follows:  

(a) Overview of Claim Form (Section A);  

(b) The Exential Fraud (Section B); 

(c) FCI Markets Inc.’s (“FCI”) role in the Exential Fraud (Section C); 

(d) Particularisation of Exential BVI’s claims against FCI (Section D).  

A. OVERVIEW OF CLAIM FORM  

2. The Creditor, Exential Investments Inc. (“Exential BVI”) was incorporated in the British 
Virgin Islands (“BVI”) on 26 April 2012.  

3. It was struck off the companies register on 23 April 2017 and then placed  
into liquidation by an Order of the BVI Courts dated 27 July 2020. By the same Order,  
Mr David Standish and Mr Russell Crumpler of KPMG LLP at that time (now of Interpath 
Ltd and Teneo BVI Ltd respectively) were appointed joint liquidators of Exential BVI 
(the “Joint Liquidators”). As at the date of this document, 2,111 potential creditors 
have submitted claims in the liquidation with a quantum totalling approximately US$205 
million (subject to those claims being formally adjudicated in the liquidation).1 On behalf 
of Exential BVI, the Joint Liquidators request that the Liquidator of FCI adjudicate this 
submitted Claim Form.   

4. As set out in further detail below, and by way of summary, the Joint Liquidators consider 
that Exential BVI has strong claims against FCI based on the tort of unlawful means 
conspiracy, dishonest assistance or breach of its Quincecare duty to Exential BVI in 
relation to its role in the Exential fraud committed against thousands of investors from 
around 2011 to 2016, principally out of Dubai and the BVI (the “Fraud”). It is estimated 
that more than 7,000 investors have been induced by the Fraud and that the quantum of 
their combined claims is approximately US$800 million.2 The Joint Liquidators contend 
that FCI is liable to Exential BVI (i) as a joint tortfeasor with the other conspirators in the 
Fraud to pay damages for all losses suffered by Exential BVI in respect of the Fraud, (ii) 
for dishonestly assisting Mr Sydney Lemos3 (“Mr Lemos”) in his breach of fiduciary duties 
owed to Exential BVI and (iii) for breaching the Quincecare4 duty FCI owed to Exential 
BVI by executing payment requests by Exential BVI’s directors when it knew, or was 
wilfully blind and reckless to the fact, that those payments requests constituted unlawful 
transactions.  For the purposes of this Claim Form, Exential BVI is seeking to claim 
approximately US$205 million in relation to FCI’s liability for the Fraud, which represents 
the current liabilities Exential BVI is facing from its creditors, on the basis of conspiracy 
and dishonest assistance claims. Alternatively, Exential BVI claims US$185 million for 
FCI’s breach of its Quincecare duty to Exential BVI. 

5. This supporting evidence is based upon the current evidence the Joint Liquidators 
possess. Their investigations are ongoing and, as noted above, the creditor claims in the 
Exential BVI liquidation are subject to adjudication.  The Joint Liquidators reserve the 

                                           

1 The total estimated value of the submitted claims is US$205,029,317.47.  
2 See paragraph 11 of the Affidavit of William Edward Ferguson dated 10 June 2020. 
3 Mr Lemos’ full name is understood to be Sydney Marshal Angelo Lemos. 
4 Barclays Bank Plc v Quincecare Ltd [1992] 4 All ER 363, at 376, per Steyn J paragraphs 70 to 76.  
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right to rely on any further evidence which may be identified in support of Exential BVI’s 
Claim Form and to amend the Claim Form.  

6. All of the rights of the Joint Liquidators and Exential BVI are expressly and fully reserved 
in relation to the subject matter of Exential BVI’s Claim Form and FCI’s liability in respect 
of the Fraud.   

B. THE EXENTIAL FRAUD 

7. The Fraud was principally operated out of Dubai and perpetrated through a scheme which 
promised investors annual returns in excess of 100% if they invested funds through a 
professionally managed forex trading system and investment programme known as the 
“Tadawul ME FX Managed Accounts Programme” (the “Programme”). 

8. It is understood that initially purported “profits” were paid out to some investors in the 
period from 2011 and 2015. However, from around 2016 onwards, the scheme stopped 
paying out. When investors requested the withdrawal of the monies they had invested 
and/or the purported profits in their accounts their requests were denied, or met with 
excuses, or promises to pay out the monies which were never fulfilled.5  

9. On 17 July 2016, the Department of Economy and Tourism in Dubai ordered the Exential 
Group to stop trading and closed down Exential’s Dubai offices.6 

10. In 2018, two key ringleaders of the Fraud who controlled the “Exential Group”7 were 
imprisoned in the UAE for their substantial involvement in the Fraud. Mr Lemos (who held 
himself out as the CEO of the Exential Group to investors) and Mr Ryan D’Souza also 
known as Ryan Fernandez8 (a senior member of the Exential Group) were each sentenced 
to 513 years in prison. Mr Lemos’ wife, Valany Cardoza, was also sentenced to 513 years 
in prison for her involvement, but she has since fled to Goa in India, and her sentence 
was therefore handed down in absentia.  

11. The global amount estimated to have been invested in the Fraud is believed to total in 
the region of approximately US$800 million and up to around 7,000 investors are 
understood to have been victims of the Fraud. These figures are based on information 
obtained through the Joint Liquidators’ investigations to date.  The full extent of the loss 
and damage inflicted by the Fraud is not yet known, and it is believed that the sums 
defrauded and number of victims could be higher.9   

The Exential Group and Mr Lemos 

12. The core entities and main instigators of the Fraud making up the “Exential Group” 
included Exential Mideast Brokers, Tadawul ME and Exential Mideast Investment (the 
“UAE Exential Companies”) and Tadawul (BVI) Limited, Exential Corporation, 
Tadawul FX Limited, Capital Control ME Limited and Exential BVI (the “BVI Exential 
Companies”).  
 
 
 

                                           

5 See for example paragraph 16 of the Affidavit of Irene Wauringi dated 11 June 2020 and paragraph 44 of the Affidavit of William 
Edward Ferguson dated 10 June 2020. 
6 Paragraph 11 of the Affidavit of William Edward Ferguson dated 10 June 2020. 
7 The entities behind the Exential Group are summarised further in paragraphs 12 to 18. 
8 Paragraph 14 of the Affidavit of William Edward Ferguson dated 10 June 2020.  
9 Paragraph 11 of the Affidavit of William Edward Ferguson dated 10 June 2020.  
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13. The corporate records of these entities indicate that Mr Lemos is a common 
shareholder of Exential BVI and two of the UAE Exential Companies, Exential Mideast 
Brokers and Exential Mideast Investment. He was the sole owner of Exential BVI from 
27 June 2013 and owns 49% of Exential Mideast Brokers and Exential Mideast 
Investment with the UAE resident Mr Mohamed Ali Abdalla.  

 
14. This common ownership connects Exential BVI to the UAE Exential Companies 

because the controlling shareholder of Exential BVI (who was the ringleader of the 
Fraud) also jointly owned two of the key UAE entities involved in the Fraud. 

 
15. There are also links between Exential BVI and the entire Exential Group at 

board/management level because Mr Lemos was a director of Exential BVI from 28 
June 201310 and sole director from 1 July 2014 and held himself out to investors as 
CEO of the Exential Group.  

 
16. Mr Lemos’ co-shareholder in Exential Mideast Brokers and Exential Mideast Investment 

Mr Abdalla is the joint owner of Tadawul ME. Mr Lemos in turn was a Responsible 
Manager of Tadawul ME alongside the same Mr Abdalla. This demonstrates a 
connection between the owner of Exential BVI and three of the UAE Exential 
Companies in the Exential Group. All four companies (Exential BVI, Tadawul ME, 
Exential Mideast Brokers and Exential Mideast Investment) were managed or owned 
by the same individual, Mr Lemos. 

 
17. Further, it has not been confirmed but is considered to be highly likely that Mr Abdalla 

(knowingly or unknowingly) enabled Mr Lemos to defraud investors by acting as the 
UAE-citizen shareholder of the Exential Group companies in order to comply with UAE 
legal requirements. 

 
18. It is apparent from the above that the BVI Companies and the UAE Companies were 

under the de facto control, direction and management of Mr Lemos. A chart 
summarising the ownership of the Exential Group companies and a chart summarising 
the relevant management and directors of the Exential Group Companies is included 
in Sections 3 and 4 of the Appendix to this supporting evidence. 

 
How the Fraud operated 

19. The fraudulent scheme operated by the Exential Group luring investors in by representing 
to them that: 

(a) Mr Lemos was the CEO of the Exential Group and a very experienced trader11; 

(b) The Exential Group Programme (“the Programme”) had achieved returns in excess 
of 100% on investments in 2011 and 2012 and monthly returns of between 7% - 
11.5%;12 

(c) The Programme allowed the Exential Group to automatically trade foreign exchange, 
resulting in profitable trades approximately 90% of the time;13 

(d) The investment was legitimate; and   

                                           

10 See the Consent to act as director dated 28 June 2013. 
11 Paragraph 10a. of the Affidavit of Javier Antonio Demarchi dated 11 June 2020. 
12 Paragraph 29a. of the Affidavit of William Edward Ferguson dated 10 June 2020.  
13 Paragraph 10b. and 16c of the Affidavit of Javier Antonio Demarchi dated 11 June 2020.  
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(e) The Exential Group had relationships with accredited and licenced brokers including 
FCI.   

20. Communications and contracts with investors were deliberately vague as to which entity 
investors were communicating and contracting with. The names of entities were used 
interchangeably and marketing material referred to the multitude of companies within 
the Exential Group.  

21. By way of illustration, a screenshot from the Capital Control website demonstrates that 
Exential Group was an umbrella incorporating at least ‘Exential Investment Inc’ and 
‘Tadawul ME’. The website sets out that the Exential Group was a “group of companies in 
the UAE directly owned by several large companies”, Exential BVI “operates the online 
system, is responsible for placing accounts, guarantees capital, is a member of the group” 
and Tadawul ME “trades on the stock exchange under strict regulation, their results are 
appreciative for everyone, they are a member of the company group”.14 

22. The main type of contractual agreement which appears to have been used by the Exential 
Group was an “Investment Agreement”. The standard form investment agreements used 
were expressed as being between the investor and the “Tadawul ME Managed Accounts 
Program” which was just the name of the trading program that investors were allegedly 
investing in15. However, there were other iterations which directly referenced members 
of the Exential Group. By way of illustration: 

(a) One investor, Ms Irene Waruingi, received an agreement on 21 January 2013 which 
stated the Programme was managed by Tadawul ME in partnership with FX Primus 
Limited and Exential BVI, but it further stated that the agreement was in “partnership 
with Exential Investments Inc Mauritius” who was authorised by Tadawul ME for any 
banking transactions.16 

(b) A further agreement with Ms Waruingi received relating to one of her other accounts 
(containing purported profits which she had ‘rolled-over’) had been stamped by 
Exential Mideast Brokers. 17 

(c) Another investor who gave evidence in the Exential BVI liquidation proceedings, Mr 
Javier Demarchi, explained that his agreement appeared to be with Tadawul ME – 
although he made his payment to Tadawul FX Limited.18 

(d) Revised/further agreements were also sent to both Ms Waruingi and Mr Demarchi 
purporting to be from Tadawul ME19, but no evidence has been identified in the 
investigations to date indicating that these investors’ investments were assigned to 
Tadawul ME under the revised agreements.  

23. Investors deposited monies in the scheme with a company within the Exential Group 
who in turn utilised the monies directly or transferred their monies to a number of 
intermediary brokerage companies, including FCI, to purportedly invest using the 
Exential Group’s forex trading programme.20 Occasionally payments were made 
directly from investors to brokers, including FCI. The brokers would report the 

                                           

14 Screenshots from the Capital Control ME Limited Website. These were sourced from the “Wayback machine”. 
15 See for example the Investment Agreement for the investor Gary Lacon dated 29 April 2015.  
16 Paragraph 14 of the Affidavit of Irene Waruingi dated 11 June 2020. 
17 Paragraph 14 of the Affidavit of Irene Waruingi dated 11 June 2020.  
18 Paragraph 12 of the Affidavit of Javier Antonio Demarchi dated 11 June 2020.  
19 Paragraphs 12 and 19 of the Affidavit of Javier Antonio Demarchi dated 11 June 2020.  
20 Paragraph 30 of the Affidavit of William Edward Ferguson dated 10 June 2020. 
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purported profits and losses to the Exential Group who, in turn, updated investors on 
how their investments were performing. The updates were initially provided in reports 
sent to investors by email and investors could also monitor how their investments 
were performing through an online portal. Ultimately, investors were persuaded to 
invest the purported profits displayed in their accounts into new additional accounts 
opened with the Exential Group.  

 

C. FCI’S ROLE IN THE EXENTIAL FRAUD  

24. In addition to FCI, the “brokers” attached to the Exential Group included: 

(a) FCI Markets Australia PTY Limited (“FCI Australia”), an Australian company 
incorporated on 11 December 2014; 

(b) FCI Prime Markets AU PTY Limited (“FCI Prime Markets”), an Australian company 
incorporated on 11 December 2015;  

(c) Ellipsys Financial Markets (“Ellipsys”), a company incorporated in Mauritius on 10 
January 2012 and regulated by the Financial Services Commission, Mauritius; 

(d) S&S Brokerage House (“S&S”) a company incorporated in Dubai in June 2009; 

(e) VIBHS Financial Ltd, a company incorporated in England & Wales on 5 November 
2012; 

(f) FX Primus Limited, a company incorporated in Mauritius and regulated by the Financial 
Services commission of Mauritius until May 2015, when its licence was revoked;  

(g) “Instaforex”, which appears to be one of the companies in the “Instaforex group” 
which includes Instant Trading Limited (BVI), a company incorporated in BVI and the 
holder of a SIBA licence SIBA/L/14/1082; Insta Service Limited and Insta Global Ltd 
who are both registered in St Vincent.  

Corporate connections between the brokers 

25. The known corporate details for each of the “brokers” are set out in Section 1 of the 
Appendix. These corporate records suggest that there were important connections 
between FCI, the Exential Group, Mr Lemos and his associates in the Fraud.  

(a) FCI was incorporated on 24 July 2012 and Mr Jeffrey Leahy was its sole director and 
shareholder.  

(b) On 11 December 2014, Mr Leahy and Alpesh Patel incorporated FCI Australia and 
were co-shareholders. Mr Leahy was the sole director of FCI Australia from that date.21 
On 14 December 2015, FCI Prime Markets was incorporated. Mrs Mawany Leahy, Mr 
Leahy’s wife, was a director of FC Prime Markets as was Mrs Lemos’ wife, Valany 
Cardoza. Significantly, Mr Lemos was the chairman of FCI Prime Markets.22  

26. The explicit involvement of Mr Lemos and Valany Cardoza in FC Prime Markets alongside 
Mawany Leahy strongly suggests that she and her husband Mr Leahy, in his capacity as 
director of FCI, would have been aware of the Fraud and the misappropriation of funds 

                                           

21 FCI Markets Australia company extract dated 6 November 2017.  
22 Section 5 of the Appendix includes charts illustrating these individual connections behind FCI, FCI Prime Markets and FCI Australia. 
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from investors. Further evidence and detail on FCI’s ties to the Fraud and regarding this 
is set out below. 

FCI’s partnership with the Exential Group 

Investment agreements   

27. Throughout the life of the Fraud between 2011 and 2016, materials sent by the Exential 
Group to investors evidence FCI’s role as a crucial partner in the Programme.  

28. The investment agreements confirm that FCI was in partnership with the Programme to 
provide brokerage services. Early investor agreements have an FCI emblem/letterhead 
(alongside emblems/letterheads for S&S and Exential Mideast) and refer to FCI as “our 
broker” explaining that is “utilised by the Programme” and “holds the assets of Clients’ 
accounts and serves as principal counterparty to all trading done by the Tadawul ME 
Managed Accounts Program.” 23   

29. The later investment agreements from 2015 state in bold typing that, “Tadawul ME 
Managed Accounts Program is in partnership with S&S Brokerage House, Ellipsys Financial 
Markets & FCI Markets Inc”. 24 It remains clear from the terms of these agreements that 
FCI provided the brokerage services for the entire Programme. They state that “our 
broker FCI Markets Inc/ Ellipsys Financial Markets is utilized by Tadawul ME Managed 
Accounts Program. FCI/Elipses [sic] holds the assets of Clients’ accounts and serves as a 
principal counterparty to all trading done by Tadawul ME Managed Accounts Program”.25  

30. Significantly, this message is consistent in the investment agreements right up to the 
end of the life cycle of the Fraud in 2016. In bold text, they refer to “Tadawul ME Managed 
Accounts Program in partnership with S&S Brokerage House, FC Prime Markets & FCI 
Markets Inc”. Moreover, under the heading “Clearing firm” they state “our broker FCI 
Markets Inc/ FC Prime Markets is utilized by Tadawul ME Managed Accounts Program” 
and that “FCI/FC Prime Markets holds the assets of Clients’ accounts and serves as a 
principal counterparty to all trading done by Tadawul ME Managed Accounts Program”. It 
is telling that in 2016, FCI Prime Markets is listed as a partner of the Programme alongside 
FCI. As explained in paragraph 25, Mr Lemos and his wife had official roles at FCI Prime 
Markets alongside Mrs Mawany Leahy who was married to the sole director and 
shareholder of FCI, Mr Jeffrey Leahy.  

Marketing material 

31. Other Exential Group documentation sent to investors reiterates that FCI was a key 
partner. A Tadawul/Exential newsletter dated June 2014 states that FCI is a “strategic 
partner” and includes among the “most important criteria” for choosing “Exential Group’s 
– TadawulME Managed Accounts Program” the point that “We are authorised by VIBHS 
and FCI Markets INC to manage clients’ accounts”.26  

 

                                           

23 Investor agreements of Jonathan Page dated 21 October 2014 and Henriette Thomas dated 12 March 2014.  
24 Investor agreements of Gary Lacon dated 23 August 2015; Rupam Pimpalkar dated 8 May 2016, Ben Berhe dated 9 March 2016, 
Mathew Gibbs dated 11 May 2015 and Richard Sharpe dated 17 January 2016. 
25 Investor agreements of Rupam Pimpalkar dated 8 May 2016; Ben Berhe dated 9 March 2016, Mathew Gibbs dated 11 May 2015 
and Richard Sharpe dated 17 January 2016. 
26 Tadawul/Exential newsletter dated June 2014.  
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32. Later Exential Group newsletters sent to investors continue to list and emphasise the 
importance of FCI as a brokerage partner.27 For example, in an Exential newsletter sent 
to investors in January 2015 in reference to market issues stemming from the Swiss 
National Bank’s decision to abandon its cap on the Swiss Franc’s value, the document 
notes: “We’re happy to report that [the] Exential Group and [FCI] was completely 
unaffected by the market volatility and currently do not have any open trades in CHF or 
any other currency”. The Exential Group summarised the connection between FCI and 
itself further in a newsletter sent to investors in March 2015.28 The Exential Group were 
described as being “tied up” with S&S who, in turn, were regulated by the Central Bank 
of UAE. As S&S was not permitted to accept or directly deal with client funds/deposits, 
S&S’ financial arms, FCI and Ellipsys, accepted and dealt with client funds and also 
provided the Exential Group with their trading platforms to trade on. The Exential Group’s 
software then plugged onto their platform and profits were purportedly generated 
accordingly. It was later explained that FCI Australia and FC Prime Markets also operated 
under the licence held by S&S.29  

33. Significantly, FCI’s own marketing material explicitly links FCI to S&S and the Exential 
Group. In one “profile” labelled “Trade with FCI Markets”, which was sent to a number of 
the creditors in Exential BVI (and so the Joint Liquidators infer was sent or likely to have 
been sent to other investors in the Exential Group), the author extolls the expertise of 
both FCI and S&S in the foreign exchange sphere. It is clear from the document that the 
two entities are in partnership or working closely together as both their company 
emblems/letterheads are included. Moreover, it confirms that both FCI and S&S worked 
out of the same office in the UAE – 506 Al Fattan Plaza, Al Garhoud, Airport Road, PO 
Box 77034 Dubai UAE, which corroborates that there was a clear connection between FCI 
and other Exential Group entities.30   

34. In a different FCI “profile” sent to creditors in Exential BVI (that similarly is on both FCI 
and S&S letterhead), one section explicitly explains FCI’s tie up with S&S and connection 
with the Exential Group. This “profile” states: “Tadawul ME LLC/Exential Mideast 
Commercial Broker LLC has IB31 tie up with S&S Brokerage House – UAE (Licensed by 
Central Bank of UAE). This IB32 tie up enables Tadawul ME LLC/ Exential Mideast 
Commercial Broker LLC to solicit customers for Commodities and FX Trading for FCI 
Markets Inc.”33 This suggests that the Exential Group was able to lure investors into the 
Programme to direct them specifically to FCI to deposit and trade their investments with 
and for FCI’s benefit.   

35. It is noteworthy that one of the email addresses provided in the second “profile” for 
investors to write to FCI in relation to any questions is “alpesh@fcimarkets.com”, it can 
be inferred from the prefix, which is the first name of Mr Alpesh Patel, that this is the 
email address of Mr Patel. Moreover, Mr Patel owned the domain of the other email 
address on the document, “fcimarkets.com”, as at May 2018. As explained in paragraph 
25(b) above Mr Patel was a co-shareholder in FCI Australia alongside Mr Leahy, who in 
turn owned and managed FCI. The fact that he was held out as a key contact for investor 
queries for FCI in relation to the Programme reinforces the inference that individuals 

                                           

27 Tadawul/Exential newsletter dated January 2015.  
28 Exential newsletter March 2015. 
29 Paragraph 30 of the Affidavit of William Ferguson dated 20 June 2020.  
30 Undated “Trade with FCI Markets pack”.  
31 It is not known what “IB” refers to in this document but it is possible that it refers to “Introducing Broker”. This would accord with 
the manner in which it is understood that FCI and other brokers on the Programme were utilised by the UAE Exential Companies to 
persuade investors to participate in the Programme.  
32 Ibid. 
33 Undated FCI Group Profile. 
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connected to FCI, FCI Australia and FCI Prime Markets had awareness of and fluid roles 
within the propagation of the Fraud.  

Importance of FCI in inducing investors 

36. Investment agreements and other Exential Group documentation sent to investors 
emphasised that FCI was regulated by the Financial Services Commission of the BVI 
under licence number: SIBA/L/13/1042. By way of illustration, on the aforementioned 
June 2014 Exential newsletter, FCI is described as “one of the most advanced Financial 
Service Providers in the market. They are regulated by the Financial Service Commission 
of the British Virgin Island under SIBA/L/13/1042”. The newsletter explains that “FCI 
Markets INC offers an opportunity to individuals and Corporates to profit and benefit from 
the daily fluctuations in currency prices” and provides “an online platform to conduct 
these trades at a very low transaction cost and at process that reflect demand and 
supply”.34 

37. Exential Group representatives relied upon FCI’s licensing to market the Programme and 
induce investors into entering the investment agreements. In his witness statement dated 
30 October 2019, Charles Daley explains that his appointed Exential relationship 
manager, MJ Madronero repeatedly stated that all investments made through Exential 
and Tadawul would be entirely safe as they were supported and regulated by cover 
provided by the licence held by FCI in the BVI.35 Similarly, in his witness statement also 
dated 30 October 2019, Mr Anthony Davies explains that Mr Lemos and his relationship 
manager Valmond Menezes informed him that his investment was secure because 
financial licences were held in the BVI and the BVI Exential Companies were able to act 
under the licence held by FCI.36  

38. Another illustration of the reliance placed on FCI to perpetrate the Fraud is an Exential 
Group email sent by clientservices@exentialgroup.com on 18 February 2016 which 
summarises the highlights of an Exential Group seminar held on 13 February 2016. The 
relevant section of the email recaps on one session at the seminar with Mr Prince Daniel, 
strategic partner of S&S. The email indicates that at the seminar, Mr Daniel explained: 
“FCI Markets Inc is one of the most advanced Financial Service Providers in the market. 
They are regulated by the Financial Services Commission of the BVI under the license: 
SIBA/L/13/1042”.37 Mr Daniel was an Indian accountant based in Dubai and is understood 
to have been a central cog in the Fraud with connections in the Exential Group. His 
LinkedIn profile states that he is a certified commodities/futures trader and his experience 
includes being a business associate for FCI and ELP Markets (believed to be Ellipsys), in 
association with S&S.38  

39. In short, FCI was palpably a crucial calling card for the protagonists of the Fraud and 
integral to the commission of the Fraud. Had FCI not been involved in the Programme 
investors would not have entrusted their investments with the Exential Group under the 
Programme and would not have been defrauded of those investments as a result.  

 

                                           

34 June 2014 Exential newsletter.  
35 Witness statement of Charles Daley dated 30 October 2019.  
36 Witness statement of Anthony Davies dated 30 October 2019. 
37 Exential Group email dated 18 February 2016.  
38 LinkedIn page for Prince Daniel extracted 3 November 2017.  
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Attorneys  

40. FCI also had express ties to the UAE Exential Companies. A number of investors entered 
into “Limited power of attorney agreements” which authorised Tadawul ME LLC, Exential 
MidEast Investment or Exential MidEast Commercial Brokers to act as their attorneys on 
their behalf “with full legal effect with respect to [FCI].”39 The UAE Exential Companies’ 
powers included the following:  

(a) Representing the investor with respect to all the assets deposited in the investor’s 
account with FCI;  

(b) Trading on the investor’s behalf with FCI and authorising itself to receive all 
login/passwords and account statements related to their trading account; and 

(c) Controlling the profit distribution and issuing debit instructions to FCI to recover 
profits owed from time to time. 

41. These agreements represent a clear link between key proponents of the Fraud, the UAE 
Exential Companies and FCI. While the majority of the agreements have “Exential 
Tadawul ME” branding, one agreement has a supplemental document which includes FCI 
branding and mirrors the power of attorney appointment for Exential Mideast Commercial 
Brokers LLC/Tadawul.40 As explained in paragraphs 33 to 35 the fact that FCI’s own 
documentation actively links itself to the Exential Group undermines any argument that 
it was an unknowing and innocent participant in the Fraud.    

Use of investor funds and communications 

42. There is clear evidence that investors’ monies were transferred directly/indirectly from 
Exential Companies or other companies connected with the group to FCI’s bank accounts. 
By way of illustration, Vernon Lobo, one of Mr Lemos’ relationship managers within the 
Exential Group, requested in an email dated 22 December 2015 for Mr Gary Lacon’s funds 
to be sent to an account in FCI’s name in Dubai with account number: 019100121091. 
Mr Lacon proceeded to transfer AED 151,700 to that FCI account on 24 December 2022.41   

43. Several further bank accounts have been identified by the Joint Liquidators to be held 
under FCI‘s name  in connection with the Programme, this is evidenced by the following 
documents: Zaneil Trivedi’s funds transfer form dated 9 February 2015, Richard Sharpe’s 
outward remittance advice dated 10 September 2015 and Valmond Menezes’ email to 
Frank Briganti dated 4 September 2014.42 

44. During the course of their investigations, the Joint Liquidators have obtained copies of 
communications between representatives of FCI and the investors in relation to their 
investments. It is palpable from these exchanges that the representatives were 
deliberately being obstructive in dealing with requests with investors.   

 

                                           

39 Power of attorney of Lavinia Jurca dated 18 January 2016, Power of attorney of Gregory Caix dated 18 August 2015, Power of 
attorney for Alan Hopps dated 8 August 2015.   
40 Power of attorney for Alan Hopps dated 8 August 2015.   
41 Gary Lacon bank transfer form dated 24 December 2015.  
42 Zaneil Trivedi’s funds transfer form dated 9 February 2015, Richard Sharpe’s outward remittance advice dated 10 September 
2015 and Valmond Menezes’ email to Frank Briganti dated 4 September 2014. 
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45. By way of illustration, one investor opened two accounts in September and November 
2015. Mr Naman Taldar, the investor’s Exential Group Relationship Manager, informed 
the investor that as the Exential Group was a “Money Manager”, their capital was 
deposited with FCI under the investor’s name but connected to the “Exential Marketing 
account”. The investor contacted clientservices@exentialgroup.com on 12 September 
2016 explaining the situation and requesting proof of transfer of their capital to FCI for 
the purpose of Forex trading. On the same day, the investor additionally sent an email 
to info@fcimarkets.com43 requesting information about their accounts with FCI. 
clientservices@exentialgroup.com replied indicating they were unable to respond to the 
investor’s queries as their offices were temporarily closed. While, info@fcimarkets.com 
responded indicating that they had checked their records and located no account in the 
investor’s name. However, the investor’s bank statements illustrate that AED 9,379.48 
was paid out by an account linked to “FCI Markets Inc” on 21 December 2015 suggesting 
that FCI did manage the investor’s accounts in some fashion.44  

46. In summary, the email exchanges illustrate clear dishonesty on the part of FCI and 
collusion with the Exential Group in actively confusing investors in the Programme to 
avoid discovery and continue the Fraud. It can be inferred that other investors in the 
Fraud received similar messages from FCI.  

Meetings with connected individuals in the Fraud 

47. As part of their investigations into the Fraud, the Joint Liquidators have engaged Carlton 
Huxley Limited to assist with evidence gathering and asset tracing. The director of Carlton 
Huxley is Mr William Ferguson. Mr Ferguson has had a number of meetings with 
individuals which have emphasised the connection between FCI and the Fraud. By way 
of illustration:  

(a) On 6 October 2016, Mr Ferguson met with Andrew Fernandez and Mr Vishal Thapar 
of the Exential Group. Mr Fernandez was part of the Exential Group’s senior 
management team. Mr Fernandez explained during the meeting that bank accounts 
for the Exential Group were frozen including money in Dubai and money held by other 
brokers in Australia. However, Mr Fernandez reported to Mr Ferguson that investors’ 
monies were being held in a trading account with ADS Securities LLC (“ADS”) in Abu 
Dhabi but that they could only be accessed by the senior management team of FCI.45 
The important implication of this conversation is that Mr Leahy and other senior 
figures at FCI were sufficiently close to Mr Fernandez and the underlying Fraud to be 
able to access the bank accounts of the Exential Group.  

(b) On 22 November 2016, Mr Ferguson and Mr Derek Walter (also of Carlton Huxley) 
arranged a meeting with Mr Lemos. He did not attend but two men attended in his 
place who stated they were Mr Lemos’ legal advisers. The two men, Mr Mikael 
Lundgren and an Emirati man called Masood explained that Exential Group clients’ 
monies were safe and they were held primarily in the bank and trading accounts in 
the name of FCI. Again, this directly ties FCI to the proceeds of the Fraud.46    

 

 

                                           

43 This email address is also listed in the FCI profile document summarised in paragraph 35.  
44 Email exchanges with Silviya Valkanova and FCI and Exential in September 2016; see also the email exchanges between Maria 
Flores and FCI in July 2016. 
45 Paragraph 49 of the Affidavit of Mr William Ferguson dated 20 June 2020.  
46 Paragraph 50 of the Affidavit of Mr William Ferguson dated 20 June 2020. 
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(c) On 15 December 2016, Mr Ferguson met Mr Naman Taldar the former client 
relationship manager with the Exential Group at the office of an Egyptian lawyer Hany 
Elsaid of Dubai-based Abdul Rahman Naseeb Advocates and Legal Consultants. In the 
meeting, They informed Mr Ferguson that: 

(i) There were two offices used by the Exential Group in the Arenco Tower in Al 
Sufouh 2, Media City Dubai. Office number 003 on floor 0 was for the majority of 
its staff and Office 702 on the 7th Floor was for the exclusive use of four of the 
senior executives in the Exential Group – Mr Lemos, Mrs Lemos, Mr Fernandez 
and Mr Kevin Pereira. The only other individuals who went to or were allowed onto 
the top 7th floor were Mr Daniel, the strategic partner of S&S, and a man who Mr 
Taldar believed was “an Australian involved in FCI BVI”. One can reasonably infer 
from this description that the individual Mr Taldar was referring to was Mr Leahy 
as he was the sole director and shareholder of FCI at the time and is an Australian 
national.47  

(ii) Mr Elsaid confirmed he had documents which could prove that the majority of the 
money invested into the Exential Group had been moved to accounts held by FCI. 
FCI had a Forex trading account with ADS in Abu Dhabi and to the best of Mr 
Elsaid’s knowledge and belief, there was a balance of US$70 million in that ADS 
account at one time, although he believed an unknown sum of money was 
transferred elsewhere.48  

48. The Joint Liquidators understand that the liquidator of FCI has since recovered 
US$4,559,060.12 from ADS which proves that FCI was indeed actively operating in the 
UAE at the time. 

D. PARTICULARISATION OF EXENTIAL BVI’S CLAIMS AGAINST FCI  

49. In light of the common corporate connections between the UAE Exential Companies and 
the BVI Exential Companies and their other ties in respect of the commission of the Fraud 
(explained above in paragraphs 12 to 23), there is a strong claim that the Exential Group 
entities conspired with each other to misappropriate monies from investors. As such, and 
as we explain below, they are jointly liable for the Fraud and the US$800 million owed to 
investors.  

50. This is supported by Court Judgments handed down in the Dubai Courts of First Instance, 
in which UAE Exential Companies have been found jointly and severally liable to some of 
the Exential investors for monies invested in the Exential Group scheme based upon the 
close relationship between the companies.49 

51. It is important that Exential BVI’s claims are considered against the context of the manner 
in which Mr Lemos controlled and used the company to perpetrate the Fraud.  Exential 
BVI was undoubtedly an important entity in relation to the Fraud. It was one of the key 
entities used in the Exential Group and is understood to have carried out  
important functions for the Exential Group including the placing of client accounts.  
 

                                           

47 Paragraph 51(a) of the Affidavit of Mr William Ferguson dated 20 June 2020. 
48 Paragraph 51(b) of the Affidavit of Mr William Ferguson dated 20 June 2020. 
49 The judgment of Hilmi Amir Claim 1942/2016/16 (Dubai Court of First Instance) dated 15 December 2016 and the judgment of 
Ahmad Farid Mohammed Maher in Case 2803 of 2016 dated 19 February 2017. 
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Indeed, investigations show that US$11,581,303.21 of investors’ monies were deposited 
into just one bank account in its name, and that it was a direct beneficiary of the proceeds 
of the Fraud.50  

52. Moreover, Exential BVI transferred significant payments from its bank account to Mr 
Lemos and to other Exential Group entities during the lifespan of the Fraud. By way of 
illustration, analysis of Exential BVI’s Investec bank account evidences that: 

(a) Exential BVI made 24 payments totalling approximately US$6.6 million to Exential 
Mideast Brokers in the period 10 December 2012 to 14 August 2013;51 

(b) Exential BVI made payments totalling US$13,747.25 to Mr Lemos;52 and 

(c) Payments were made to various third parties from the Investec account which appear 
to have been connected to and/or service providers of the Exential Group (e.g there 
are payments to the forex web design and developer firm, Kenmore Design LLC and 
the forex broker FX Primus Limited).53  

53. Crucially, although Exential BVI was palpably involved, it was ultimately a victim of the 
Fraud. Mr Lemos propagated the Fraud in concert with his known associates who together 
controlled the entities making up the Exential Group.  Mr Lemos was sole shareholder of 
Exential BVI from 27 June 2013 (around one year after its initial incorporation). He was 
also registered as a director of Exential BVI from 28 June 2013 in the company share 
register and was the sole director from 1 July 2014. Mr Lemos also held a power of attorney 
to represent and act on behalf of Exential BVI from 25 September 2012. As a matter of 
BVI law, holding a general power of attorney and running the company in place of the de 
jure director means he can be considered a de jure director from that date. 54 55 

54. One important point to note, is that based upon the UK Supreme Court’s judgment in 
Singularis Holdings v Daiwa Capital Markets Europe Ltd [2019] UKSC 50, Mr Lemos’ 
knowledge of the Fraud as director of Exential BVI should not be imputed to Exential BVI 
for the purposes of claims it will bring, even if he were deemed to be the “directing mind 
and will” of the company.   

55. The starting point in this regard is that Exential BVI is a distinct legal entity separate to 
its shareholder and director Mr Lemos. Of course, as companies have to act through the 
medium of those persons in control of them, questions arise as to whether the knowledge 
of those persons will be attributed to the company. In this regard, context is critical. In 
her judgment, Lady Hale explained that the answer to any question whether to attribute 
the knowledge of a fraudulent director to a company is “always to be found in 
considerations of the context and the purpose for which the attribution was relevant”.56  

 

                                           

50 See the “Summary” section of the “Investment Bank Statements 1 –CR analysis” Excel spreadsheet.  
51 See the “Exential Mideast Comm” section of the ”Investment Bank Statements 1 – CR Analysis” Excel spreadsheet.  
52 See the “Summary” section of the “Investment Bank Statements 1 – CR analysis” Excel spreadsheet. 
53 A list of the payments to third parties is under the “Payments” heading in the “Summary” section of the ”Investment Bank 
Statements 1 – CR analysis” Excel spreadsheet.   
54 During this period, the registered director of Exential BVI (according to the company’s share register) was Mr Raymond Anthony 
Thomas, an Indian national holding passport no. Z2385400 (as at 2014). See the Share Register dated 27 June 2013.  

55 The applicable test is whether Mr Lemos was part of the corporate governance system of the company and whether he had 
assumed the status and function of a director so as to make himself responsible as if he were a director (Byers and ors v Chen 
[BVIHCVAP 2015/0011], 12 June 2018 and Ciban Management Corp v Citco (BVI) Ltd [2020] UKPC 21). 

56 Singularis Holdings Ltd (In Official Liquidation) v Daiwa Capital Markets Europe Ltd [2019] UKSC 50, paragraph 30. 
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56. In the case of Singularis, the context was the company’s investment bank and broker’s 
breach of its Quincecare duty of care towards the company. The purpose of that duty is 
to protect companies against exactly the sort of misappropriation that took place on the 
facts of that case (which involved a director instructing a bank to make a number of 
payments totalling approximately US$204,500,000 out of the money held in in its 
account). To attribute the fraud of the director to the company in this regard would result 
in there being, in effect, no Quincecare duty of care, or its breach ceasing to have any 
consequences. 

57. The context of Exential BVI’s claims against the co-conspirators of the Fraud is different 
to the facts in Singularis. However, the crucial point is that Exential BVI suffered real 
harm as a result of the unlawful actions of Mr Lemos. It is now insolvent with no or 
insufficient assets to meet its liabilities and faces claims from at least 2,111 potential 
creditors who lost monies in the Fraud amounting to approximately US$205 million. As 
such, it is highly unlikely that if a claim were brought by Exential BVI (now acting by its 
Joint Liquidators) against any of the entities involved in the Fraud that the Court would 
attribute the knowledge of Mr Lemos to Exential BVI.  

58. The directors of the entities involved in the Fraud are primarily liable for the 
approximately US$800 million owed to underlying investors. Those directors owed duties 
to act in good faith in what they believed to be the best interests of the respective 
companies57. Instead, in breach of their fiduciary duties, they facilitated the 
misappropriation of funds invested into the various members of the Exential Group. Mr 
Lemos misused Exential BVI as part of the Fraud and it has suffered significant loss in 
the form of insolvency and creditors’ claims amounting to US$205 million. However, as 
noted above, Mr Lemos’ knowledge of and responsibility for the Fraud will not be 
attributed to Exential BVI for the purposes of a claim brought by Exential BVI against 
other parties involved in the Fraud. 

Additionally, again following Singularis, for the purposes of a claim against FCI (or other 
entities involved in the Fraud), the Court will attribute the knowledge of those in control 
of FCI to it for the purpose of establishing FCI’s liability to Exential BVI. 58 This is important 
for the reasons explained below.   

Claims against FCI 

59. Exential BVI’s claim for the debt of US$205 million is based upon the following causes of 
action against FCI for its role in the Fraud:  

(a) Unlawful means conspiracy: which arises where there is a combination or agreement 
between two or more legal persons to take action that results in damage being caused 
to another person. Unlawful means conspiracy requires the use of unlawful means in 
furtherance of the agreement and an intention to cause injury to the target; and  

(b) Dishonest assistance: which refers to a cause of action under which a non-trustee 
becomes personally liable for breaches of trust committed by one or more 
trustees/fiduciaries. Liability arises where the non-trustee is an accessory to the 
breach of a trust (whether by inducing or assisting in the breach) and has acted 
dishonestly. The test of honesty in this context is objective. Liability is imposed if the 
accessory has not acted as an honest person would, in the circumstances, have acted. 
In applying this test it is assumed that an honest person does not participate in a 

                                           

57 Business Companies Act, section 120(1). 
58 Paragraphs 26 to 38 of Singularis Holdings Ltd (In Official Liquidation) v Daiwa Capital Markets Europe Ltd [2019] UKSC 50. 
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transaction if he knows that it involves a misapplication of trust assets (Royal Brunei 
Airlines Sdn Bh. V Tan [1995] 2 AC 378);  

60. Alternatively, a claim for the debt of US$185 million is based upon: 

FCI’s breach of its Quincecare duty to Exential BVI: which consists of an implied term and 
co-extensive duty of care owed by a bank or broker to its customer to refrain from making 
or executing a payment when the bank is put on inquiry that a payment instruction from 
its customer may be a result of fraud.   

61. The fact that FCI was a party to a common understanding to injure investors and/or that 
it dishonestly assisted Mr Lemos and his associates in misappropriating monies from 
investors and propagating the Fraud and/or that it failed in its breached its duty of care 
to refrain from making payments pursuant to its Quincecare duty can be inferred from 
the facts and matters summarised below. 

Taking each in turn:  

Unlawful means conspiracy  

62. From on or around 2011 to 2016, FCI combined together and/or acted in concert with Mr 
Lemos and his associates pursuant to an agreement or common understanding with an 
intention to injure or cause financial loss to Exential BVI (and the wider Exential Group) 
and the underlying investors by the use of unlawful means. Pursuant to that conspiracy, 
FCI, Mr Lemos and his associates: 

(a) Carried out the Fraud;  

(b) Directed, procured and/or caused the proceeds of the Fraud to be transferred to and 
laundered through a web of companies, including Exential BVI, for the ultimate benefit 
of FCI, Mr Lemos and his associates and/or entities of which they were the beneficial 
owners and/or controllers.  

63. FCI’s participation in the agreement or common understanding and intention to injure is 
to be inferred from the facts and matters set out in Section C above, including as follows:  

(a) FCI’s director and sole shareholder, Mr Leahy, had palpable connections to Mr Lemos 
and Valany Cardoza (who is Mr Lemos’ wife). Mr Leahy’s wife, Mrs Mawany Leahy was 
a director of FC Prime Markets at the same time as Valany Cordoza. Moreover, Mr 
Lemos was also the chairman of FC Prime Markets at the same time. These 
connections strongly suggest that Mr Leahy and Ms Leahy would have been aware of 
the underlying conspiracy to injure investors.59 In this regard, former Exential Group 
relationship manager Mr Naman Taldar appears to have identified Mr Leahy as one of 
only a few people who had access to the Exential Group office restricted only to the 
key individuals behind the Fraud.60  

 

                                           

59 See paragraphs 25 to 26. 
60 See paragraph 47(i). 
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(b) FCI actively assisted with the acquisition of funds from investors through its public 
partnership with the Exential Group (of which Exential BVI was a core component 
part). FCI was an important calling card for the Exential Group which legitimised the 
Programme and the group as a whole. Significantly, it was not just Exential Group 
documentation which set out the tie up with FCI. FCI’s own materials sent to investors 
emphasised its connection to S&S and the Exential Group which evidences collusion 
in the conspiracy.61 

(c) Investor documentation directly links FCI to the Exential Group. Investor agreements 
name FCI as a partner and broker of the Exential Group.  Moreover, investors’ 
executed powers of attorney granted rights in dealing with FCI to the UAE Exential 
Companies.62   

(d) There is evidence that investors’ monies were transferred directly/indirectly from 
Exential Companies or other companies connected with the group to at least one of 
FCI’s bank accounts.63 Yet, FCI never in fact conducted any investing for or on behalf 
of any investors in the Programme/Exential Group, the funds were ultimately 
misappropriated for the benefit of Mr Lemos and his associates. This is  clear from the 
available evidence which includes but is not limited to: 

(i) The convictions of Mr Lemos, Mr Fernandez and Mrs Lemos in the UAE for their 
role in the Fraud; 

(ii) UAE judgments establishing liability of the UAE Exential Companies for 
conspiracy to misappropriate funds invested by Exential investors; 

(iii) The fact there are 2,111 potential creditors of Exential BVI seeking the return 
of funds lost by investing in the Programme; and 

(iv) Numerous witness statements and affidavits from Exential BVI creditors 
confirming that their investments in the Programme were lost.  

(e) Nevertheless, materials sent to investors and direct email exchanges with them 
maintained the façade that FCI was a legitimate broker for the Exential Group. As 
such, FCI acted unlawfully in facilitating the misappropriation of funds from 
investors.64  

64.  The unlawful means used pursuant to the conspiracy included: 

(a) The breach of fiduciary duty by Mr Lemos and his associates in relation to the 
misappropriation of monies from the Exential Group entities and specifically Exential 
BVI; and 

(b) The knowing/unconscionable receipt of funds transferred, in breach of duty, by FCI;   

 

 

                                           

61 See paragraphs 31 to 39. 
62 See paragraphs 40 to 41. 
63 See paragraphs 42 to 46.. 
64 See paragraphs 42 to 46. 
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65. As a result of FCI’s palpable participation in the unlawful conspiracy, it is liable as a joint 
tortfeasor for the US$800 million defrauded from investors. With respect to Exential BVI’s 
loss resulting from Fraud which FCI assisted and conspired in, Exential BVI is claiming 
US$205,029,317.47, which represents the quantum of submitted claims in the liquidation 
of Exential BVI as at the date of this Claim.   

Dishonest assistance  

66. As the director of Exential BVI, Mr Lemos owed Exential BVI fiduciary duties. Mr Lemos 
breached his fiduciary duty to Exential BVI by causing it to be used as part of the Fraud 
and incurring creditors’ claims amounting to approximately US$205 million which it has 
no means to pay.  

67. Snowden J has observed that “assistance” in a claim for dishonest assistance is “simply 
conduct which in fact assists the fiduciary to commit the act which constitutes the breach 
of trust or fiduciary duty”. 65 It is not necessary to prove that FCI was aware of all of the 
details of the Fraud or that they knew the facts which gave rise to the trust relationship 
between Mr Lemos and Exential BVI, it suffices if they simply knew they were assisting 
the fiduciary to do something that amounted to a breach of duty.66 FCI assisted Mr Lemos 
with his breach and played a significant role in it being carried out. As explained further 
above in Section C, it was an important cog in the Fraud for Mr Lemos by legitimising the 
Programme through its public partnership with the Exential Group. Moreover, there is 
evidence that it made and received payments from Exential Group entities which were 
ultimately for the benefit of Mr Lemos and/or his associates who controlled the respective 
entities.  

68. It is the Joint Liquidators’ contention that FCI acted dishonestly in providing this 
assistance to Mr Lemos. As explained further above, dishonesty entails not acting as an 
honest person would in the circumstances. Significantly, wilful blindness will satisfy the 
test for dishonesty, in the sense that an honest person does not “deliberately close his 
eyes and ears, or deliberately not ask questions, lest he learn something he would rather 
not know, and then proceed regardless”. 67 FCI’s active dishonesty in relation to Mr Lemos’ 
breach of fiduciary duty or, at the least, its wilful blindness can be inferred from the 
following: 

(a) FCI can be held to have acted dishonestly through the actions of one of its 
directors or a person who is the controlling mind and will of the company. 68 Mr 
Leahy was undoubtedly the controlling mind and will of FCI. He had palpable 
connections to Mr Lemos and Valany Cardoza (Mr Lemos’ wife). Mr Leahy’s wife, 
Mrs Mawany Leahy was a director of FC Prime Markets at the same time as Valany 
Cordoza. Moreover, Mr Lemos was the chairman of the company at the same time. 
These connections strongly suggest that Mr Leahy and Ms Leahy would have been 
aware of the underlying conspiracy to injure Exential BVI and investors.69 In this 
regard, former Exential Group relationship manager Mr Naman Taldar appears to 
have identified Mr Leahy as one of only a few people who had access to the 

                                           

65 Paragraph 162 of Bilta (UK) Ltd (in liquidation) and others v NatWest Markets plc and another company [2020] EWHC 546 (Ch). 
66 Ultraframe (UK) Ltd v Fielding [2005] EWHC 1638 (Ch).  
67 Singularis Holdings Ltd (in liquidation) v Daiwa Capital Markets Europe Ltd [2017] EWHC 257 (Ch) with reference to Twinsectra 
v Yardley [2002] UKHL 12, [2002] 2 All ER 377.  
68 Crown Dilmun v Sutton [2004] EWHC 52 (Ch) [2004] All ER (D); El Ajou v Dollar Land Holdings [1994] 2 All ER 685; Sinclair 
Investment Holdings SA v Versailles Trade Finance Ltd [2007] EWHC 915 (Ch) [2007] 2 All ER (Comm) 993. 
69 See paragraphs 25 and 26. 
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Exential Group office restricted only to the key individuals behind the Fraud.70 
FCI’s own material confirms that it shared office space in the UAE with S&S and 
other UAE Exential entities;71 and 

(b) Despite holding itself out as a licensed foreign exchange broker in materials sent 
to investors, FCI never in fact conducted any investment for or on behalf of any 
investors in the Programme/Exential Group. This is palpable for the reasons set 
out in paragraphs 63 (d)(i) to (iv). The funds, received directly or indirectly from 
Exential Group companies, including Exential BVI, were ultimately 
misappropriated for the benefit of Mr Lemos and his associates. This suggests 
active dishonesty by FCI, in that they misled investors and assisted the dissipation 
of funds invested with the Exential Group. This is supported by email exchanges 
between FCI and investors in which FCI representatives appear to actively confuse 
the investors to avoid discovery of the Fraud.72  

69. As a result of FCI’s dishonest assistance, it is liable for equitable compensation (by reason 
of Mr Lemos’ breach of fiduciary duty) for US$205,029,317.47 million representing the 
quantum of submitted claims in the liquidation of Exential BVI as at the date of this 
supporting evidence.   

Breach of Quincecare duty  

70. Exential BVI’s alternative claim is that FCI breached the Quincecare duty which is owed 
by a broker to its account customer to exercise reasonable skill and care in and about 
executing the customer’s payment orders.73 The duty includes, when triggered, a duty to 
make reasonable enquiries about customer payment orders when the broker is put on 
inquiry that they may be unauthorised.74 

The duty  

71.  The duty is owed only to the account customer and not to any other party. Although the 
Joint Liquidators understand that some of the named accounts managed by FCI were in 
the name of individual investors, Exential BVI and/or the Exential Group were the entities 
who negotiated the contract with FCI to provide the broker and account services to the 
Exential Group. This can be inferred from the investment agreements throughout the 
lifetime of the Fraud which explain that FCI was in partnership with the Exential Group to 
act as the “clearing firm” for the Programme. Moreover, the investment agreements 
confirm that FCI “holds the assets of the Clients’ account and serves as principal 
counterparty to all trading done by Tadawul ME Managed Accounts 
Programme”(emphasis added). 75  

 

 

                                           

70 See paragraphs 45 to 47. 
71 See paragraph 33. 
72 See paragraphs 45 and 46.  
73 Barclays Bank Plc v Quincecare [1992] 4 ALL ER 363, at 376, per Steyn J.  
74 Federal Republic of Nigeria v JP Morgan Chase Bank NV [2019] EWCA Civ 1641 at [17]-[18], [22]. 
75 See for example the investment agreement for Henriette Thomas dated 28 May 2014.  

PP1/19



 
 

20 
 

72. It is also clear from the underlying facts of the Fraud that Exential BVI and/or the Exential 
Group ultimately controlled the accounts. The powers of attorney considered above76 
illustrate that investors assigned all their rights and control in respect of the accounts 
managed by FCI to the UAE Exential Group Companies (and the Exential Group as a 
whole). For investors who did not enter into the power of attorneys, the reality of the 
Fraud was that they had no control or say over what happened in their accounts or ability 
to instruct FCI to do anything with the funds. One of Mr Lemos’ relationship managers 
within the Exential Group would instruct the client to send funds to FCI. 77  The Exential 
Group and or FCI would provide the investor with periodic updates on the status of their 
account.78 Investors were initially paid out with other investors funds but, in parallel, the 
Exential Group directed FCI to make payments to accounts connected to Mr Lemos and 
his associates to misappropriate monies from Exential BVI and/or the Exential Group.  

Breach of duty 

73.  The authorities indicate that the Quincecare duty is not an onerous one. A broker is not 
required to become an “amateur detective”79, and the example of a successful Quincecare 
claim in Singularis was where the signs of fraud were described as “obvious, even 
glaring”. 80 

74. As a BVI regulated broker, at all material times FCI was subject to regulatory duties in 
respect of the brokerage services it provided to Exential BVI and/or the Exential Group. 

75. Those are as set out in the Regulatory Code 2009 (enacted under the Securities and 
Investment Business Act ("SIBA")) and included the following six overarching principles, 
which all licensees are required to observe in conducting their business (at paragraph 8 
of the Regulatory Code):  

1. Integrity  

A licensee shall conduct its business with integrity.  

2. Management and Control  

A licensee shall take reasonable care to organise and control its affairs effectively 
and have adequate risk management systems in place.  

3. Financial Resources 

 A licensee shall maintain adequate financial resources, including capital resources 
as appropriate, taking into account the nature, scale, complexity and diversity of 
its business and the risks it faces.  

4. Customers’ Interests  

A licensee shall have due regard for the interests of its customers and treat them 
fairly. A licensee shall make adequate arrangements to protect its customers’ 

                                           

76 See Paragraphs 41 and 42. 
77 See for example the email from Vernon Lobo to Gary Lacon dated 22 December 2015. 
78 For example  see the emails from “kerrie@exentialgroup.com” to Gary Lacon dated 18 February 2016 and 3 March 2016.  
79 Lipkin Gorman v Karpnale Ltd [1989] 1 WLR 1340. 
80 Singularis Holdings Ltd (in liquidation) v Daiwa Capital Markets Europe Ltd [2018] EWCA Civ 84 at [29]. 
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assets when it has responsibility for them and shall manage conflicts of interest 
fairly.  

5. Transparency  

 A licensee shall be transparent in its business arrangements.  

6. Relationship with Commission  

 A licensee shall deal with the Commission in an open and cooperative manner. 

76. In addition, the Regulatory Code imposes various specific requirements to establish and 
maintain proper standards of corporate governance (paragraphs 18-24 of the Regulatory 
Code), control risk through internal monitoring and controls (paragraphs 25-33 of the 
Regulatory Code), follow high standards of record keeping (paragraphs 38-39 of the 
Regulatory Code) and protect customer assets (paragraphs 62-68 of the Regulatory 
Code). 

77. SIBA itself contains various provisions requiring licensees to conduct its business and 
maintain adequate assets so as to be able to meet its liabilities (sections 7 and 8), to 
maintain professional indemnity insurance (section 13), maintain adequate records 
(section 17) and make arrangements to account for and protect client assets (section 
18). 

78. These regulations are intended to enhance the duties of regulated entities towards their 
clients by promoting integrity, reducing risk and ensuring that clients are treated fairly. 

79. These regulatory duties represented industry standards to which any reasonable broker 
would adhere to and informed the Quincecare duty to exercise the skill and care to be 
expected of a reasonably competent broker in handling payment instructions in respect 
of Exential BVI and/or the Exential Group’s accounts.  

80. Further, at common law and/or in equity, a fiduciary duty to exercise reasonable skill and 
care when handling payment instructions in respect of Exential BVI and/or the Exential 
Group’s accounts should be inferred in any event given its status as a broker.  

81. The key issue is whether there were any background matters or events that should have 
impacted FCI’s review of payment instructions on the customer accounts. As explained 
in further detail above, it can be inferred from the available evidence that Mr Lemos in 
collaboration with his co-collaborators conspired to defraud investors in the Exential 
Group out of their investment. If FCI was not a conspirator in the Fraud as is the Joint 
Liquidator’s primary position, it should have been obvious that requests from Mr Lemos 
and his associates throughout the lifetime of the Fraud to send monies to companies 
associated with him constituted misappropriation of funds. The payments were 
inconsistent with the investment parameters of the Programme which was to invest 
monies in foreign exchange trading and return a profit to the underlying investors. The 
payment requests provided FCI with reasonable grounds for believing that Exential BVI 
and/or the Exential Group’s funds were being misappropriated and that its accounts were 
being used for fraudulent purposes. No reasonable broker would have executed the 
payments.   
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Causation and loss 

82. FCI is responsible for the loss Exential BVI has suffered as a result of the Fraud and for 
which is it is claiming because had FCI made reasonable enquiries it would have 
uncovered the Fraud, refused to process payments out of its accounts, and refused to 
accept any further deposits.  It would have been obvious to FCI almost immediately upon 
partnering with the Exential Group, having obtained its Investment Business Licence 
under the Securities and Investment Business Act 2010 in the BVI on 6 March 201381, 
that the payment requests were not line with the mandate of the Exential Group business  
to invest in foreign exchange and return profits to underlying investors.  

83. The investment agreements indicate that FCI was acting as a broker for the Exential 
Group from March 2014.82 Had FCI complied with its Quincecare duty and refused to 
process payments and accept further deposits, then by March 2014 no further receipts 
would have been taken which would have prevented any further loss (in the form of 
creditor claims against Exential BVI) from that date.  Exential BVI, at the very least, is 
entitled to the funds misappropriated from accounts managed by FCI. The number of 
accounts managed by FCI for Exential BVI and payments that could constitute 
misappropriation is presently unknown. As such, the Joint Liquidators estimate Exential 
BVI’s loss resulting from FCI’s breach of its Quincecare duty is US$185 million.  This 
factors in a reduction of approximately 10% to the total amount claimed by Exential BVI’s 
creditors to reflect that a proportion of the deposits placed with the Exential Group may 
have been made in the earlier period of the Fraud and prior to FCI being expressly named 
as a broker in investment agreements. 

Legal principles – admissibility of the claims 

84. "Creditor" is defined in section 9 of the Insolvency Act 2003 (the “IA 2003”) as a person 
who has a claim against a company that is or would be admissible as a claim in the 
liquidation of the company. 

85. "Liability" is broadly defined in section 10 of the IA 2003, as "a liability to pay money or 
money's worth including a liability under an enactment, a liability in contract, tort or 
bailment, a liability for a breach of trust and a liability arising out of an obligation to make 
restitution, and "liability" includes a debt." 

86. Under section 11 of the IA 2003, a liability of a company is admissible as a claim in a 
liquidation, provided that the liability does not fall within the category of non-admissible 
claims set out in section 12.  For these purposes, the liability may be one to which the 
company was subject at the time the company entered liquidation, or which arises after 
the commencement of liquidation but is incurred as a result of an obligation incurred prior 
to that date.  In the case of a liability in tort, a company is deemed to become subject to 
such a liability by reason of an obligation incurred "at the time the cause of action 
accrued" (section 11(3) of the IA 2003).  

 

 

 

                                           

81 FCI SIBA licence dated 6 March 2013. 
82 See for example the investment agreement of Henriette Thomas dated 12 March 2014.  
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87. Section 12 provides that the following liabilities are not admissible: 

a. An obligation arising under a confiscation order made under - 

(i) the Drug Trafficking Offences Act; or  

(ii) the Proceeds of Criminal Conduct Act;  

b. a liability that, under any enactment or rule of law, is of a type that is not 
claimable, whether on grounds of public policy or otherwise; and  

c. such other liabilities or claims as may be prescribed. 

88. Accordingly: 

a. Exential BVI is a creditor of FCI; 

b. Each of the claims articulated above is an admissible claim in the liquidation of 
FCI; and 

c. None of the claims falls within the category of non-admissible claims. 

 

3 December 2022 
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APPENDIX 

Key persons and entities involved in the Exential fraud 
 
 

Section 1: Key companies used and involved in the Fraud 

*denotes the company that remained active throughout the majority of the 
lifespan of the fraud – the main offshore company. 

 
** denotes a company that traded actively from the same premises in 506 Fattan 
Plazza Al Garhoud, Dubai. 

 
 
Company Name Company details 

UAE Companies (operated from Dubai – as co-conspirator / ‘representative 
companies’/ ‘white label’ companies245 for Exential BVI and other Exential BVI 
companies) 
Exential Mideast 
Commercial Brokers LLC 

 UAE company; 

 Incorporated on 7 June 2012 (held commercial licence 
as a broker from the same date - no.#671909); 

 Manager of commercial licence – Mr Lemos; 

 51% owned by Mohamed Ali Mohamed Abdalla (UAE 
resident);  

 49% owned by Mr Lemos;  

 Marketing arm of Exential Group. 

Tadawul ME LLC  UAE company; 

 Incorporated on or around 11 August 2011 (held 
commercial licence from same date); 

 Manager of commercial licence – Mr Lemos;  

 80% owned by Mohamed Ali Mohamed Abdalla;  
 20% owned by Abdulrahman Mahmood A Ahmad 

Mohammad (likely UAE resident). 

Exential Mideast Investment LLC  UAE company; 

 Incorporated on 30 September 2014 (held commercial 
licence as a broker – which Mr Lemos was in charge 
of);  

 51% owned by Mohamed Ali Mohamed Abdalla;  

 49% owned by Mr Lemos. 

 

 The above companies operated from Concord Tower, Dubai, UAE until in or around 
December 2013 when they were moved to more prestigious premises at the Arenco 
Tower, Dubai Media City, Dubai, UAE. 
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British Virgin Island Companies 

Exential Investments Inc.   Incorporated on 26 April 2012; 

 Company No. 1709125; 

 Struck off register of companies on 23 February 2017 
after registered agent resigned; 

 Direct recipient of investor funds; 
 Wound up on 29 July 2020 – Russell Crumpler and 

David Standish appointed as joint liquidators; 
 29 July 2020 an Order requiring any person falling 

within Section 282(2) of the BVI Insolvency Act 2003 
by notice in writing to: 

o Provide the joint liquidators with such 
information concerning the Company, 
including the promotion, formation, business, 
dealings, accounts, assets, liabilities or affairs 
as joint liquidators reasonably require; 

o Attend on him at such reasonable time and
place; 

o Be examined on oath or affirmation. 
Exential Corporation BVI  Incorporated on 23 January 2009; 

 Company No. 1514893; 
 Struck off 3 November 2015 for non-payment of fees. 

Tadawul FX Limited  Incorporated on 19 November 2010; 
 Company No. 1616071; 
 Struck off 1 May 2012 for non-payment of fees; 

 Direct recipient of investor funds; 
 This may be the Cypriot entity “LQD Markets Limited” 

(formerly known as Tadawul FX Limited) which owned
a bank account in Cyprus into which at least one 
investor transferred a payment in order to invest in the 
Exential Group. 
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Company Name Company details 

Tadawul (BVI) Limited  Incorporated on 24 December 2007; 
 Company No. 1451820; 
 Struck off in 2010 and was dissolved on 30 April 2017.

Capital Control ME Limited  Incorporated on 24 April 2013; 
 Company No. 1771461; 
 Name change from Capital Controll ME 

Limited,changed its name to Capital Control ME 
limited on 30 April 2015; 

 Struck off on 1 November 2018. 

 The Exential Group consists of Tadawul ME LLC (responsible for all automated trading), 
UAE Mideast Commercial Brokers LLC and Exential Investments Inc (the offshore unit 
based in BVI and Seychelles) – the group had a representative office in Dubai. 

 'Exential' and 'Tadawul' in the UAE were ‘representative’ / co-conspirator/ ‘white label’
companies 

for Exential Investments Inc. in the BVI, which really ran the scheme and these UAE 
companies were also able to act under a licence held by FCI Markets Inc. (“FCI”) (see 
below). 

Brokers (it is believed that all brokers operated in Dubai under the umbrella of the S&S
licence) 
FCI**  Incorporated 24 July 2012; 

 Director and shareholder – Mr Leahy; 
 Held a SIBA licence; 
 29 January 2018 – put into liquidation following 

application by clients of Carlton Huxley Limited. 

FCI Markets Australia PTY Limited  Incorporated on 11 December 2014 by Alpesh Patel 
and Mr Leahy; 

 Mr Leahy is sole director; 

 Registered with Australian Securities   and
Investment   Commission. 

FC Prime Markets AU PTY Limited 
(in liquidation) 

 Australian company incorporated on 14 December
2015; 

 Directors were Valany Cardoza (wife of Mr Lemos) and 
Mawany Leahy (wife of Mr Leahy); 

 Mr Lemos was the Chairman. 
 

Ellipsys Financial Markets**  Incorporated in Mauritius on 10 January 2012 
(company number C107134); 

 Regulated by Financial Services Commission in
Mauritius. 
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S&S Brokerage House**  Incorporated in Dubai in June 2009; 
 President and licence holder – Sheikh Abdullah Zayed 

Sagr Al Nahyan; 
 The president and licence holder was authorised by 

the Central Bank of the UAE to conduct the business 
of intermediation in dealing with currencies and 
money market transactions under S&S name. 

VIBHS Financial Limited  Incorporated in England and Wales on 5 November
2012; 

 Authorised by the FCA. 

 
FX Primus Limited  Incorporated in Mauritius; 

 Regulated until May 2015 when licence was revoked. 

Instaforex  One of the companies within the Instaforex Group 
which includes Instant Trading Limited (BVI) – holder 
of a SIBA licence; 

 Insta Service Limited and Insta Global Limited were part
of the Group and both registered in St Vincent. 

ADS Securities LLC  UAE Company; 
 Registered with the Department of Economic 

Development of Abu Dhabi under number 1190047;  
 Licenced by the Central Bank of the UAE; 

 Currently believed by the Joint Liquidators to be 
holding monies belonging to either Exential 
Investments Inc., Exential Commercial Mideast 
Brokers LLC or Exential Mideast Investment LLC and 
further monies belonging to one or more of the UAE 
Exential Companies. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PP1/27



 
 

28 
 

BT Prime Limited  corporated on 27 April 2010 in the BVI; 
 Company number: 1582660; 
 Issued with a Bermudan Certificate of Continuance on

30 June 2014 under registration number 49242; 
 Registered office: Offices of Trident Trust Company 

(BVI) Limited, Trident Chambers, PO Box 146, Road
Town, Tortola, BVI; 

 Struck off the Companies Register on 7 July 2014; 
 Filed a petition for relief under chapter 11 of the 

Bankruptcy Code on 2 March 2015; 
 Received payments from the Investec bank account 

held by Exential Investments Inc. totalling US$2.02m; 
  
 Several transfers were purportedly made in January

2015 “following the removal of the Swiss peg”. 
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Section 2: Key individuals involved in the Fraud 

 
Name Involvement 

Key Involvement 

Mr Sydney Marshal Agnelo Lemos  Indian national from Goa;  

 Address listed in Exential Investments Inc Share 
Register: Sh. Saeed Bin Maktoum Bin Juma, Aal 
Makotoum, 905 / 134 Al Mamzar, PO Box 223813 
Dubai UAE; 

 CEO of the Exential Group – the face of the operation; 
 Minority shareholder in Exential Mideast Commercial 

Brokers LLC and Exential Mideast Investment LLC;  
 Imprisoned for 513 years. 

Mr Ryan Fernandez  Senior member of Exential Group;  

 Imprisoned for over 513 years.  

Valany Cardoza  Indian national and wife of Mr Lemos; 
 Director of FC Prime Markets;  

 Signatory on the majority of investor agreements;  

 Sentenced to 513 years, in absentia. 

Mr Andrew Fernandez  Senior member of Exential Group. 

Naman Taldar  Former relationship manager at the Exential Group; 
 Provided significant information as an insider of the 

Fraud and the location of various monies belonging to 
creditors of FCI. 
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Name Involvement 

Supplemental Involvement  

Mr Jeffrey Leahy  Australian accountant and Director of FCI and FCI 
Australia.  

Mrs Mawana Leahy  Wife of Mr Jeffrey Leahy; 
 Director of FC Prime Markets with Valany Cardoza.  

Prince Daniel  Indian accountant based in Dubai; 
 Central cog with connections in Exential Group and 

many brokers;  

 LinkedIn profile states that he is a certified 
commodities/futures trader – his experience includes 
working for Intuit as well as being a business associate 
for FCI and ELP Markets (believed to be Ellipsys), in 
association with S&S. 

Sheikh Abdullah Zayed Sagr 
Al Nahyan 

 Member of UAE Royal Family;  

 Owner of S&S;  

 No evidence been identified indicating that he was 
aware that S&S may have been unwittingly entwined 
in the Fraud and used for unlawful purposes. 

Mohamed Ali Mohamed Abdalla  UAE resident; 
 Shares in 

o Exential  Commercial Mideast Brokers LLC –
51% 

o Tadawul ME LLC – 80% 
o Exential Mideast Investment LLC – 51%. 

Abdulrahman Mahmood A. 
Ahmad Mohammad 

 UAE resident; 
 Holds shares in Tadawul ME UAE – 20%. 

Alpesh Patel  Historic shareholder of FCI Markets Australia PTY
Limited; 

 As at May 2018 – owner of domain name
fcimarkets.com. 
 

Haameem Khizer  UAE resident; 
 Director of Ellipsys Financial Markets. 
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Section 3: Ownership of Exential Group Companies 

 

 

PP1/31



 
 

32 
 

 

Section 4: Management of the Exential Group Companies 
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Australia  BVI Individual   Mr Jeffrey 
Leahy  

Section 5: Individuals behind FCI entities 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

FCI Prime Markets   
Incorporated 14.12.15 

Mrs Mawany Leahy 
(wife of Mr Leahy) 

Director  

Sydney Lemos                   
Chairman 

Valany Cardoza  
(Mrs Lemos)                                

Director 

FCI Australia             
Incorporated 11.12.14  

Mr Jeffrey Leahy         
Sole director and co-

shareholder  

Alpesh Patel                   
Co-shareholder 

Mr Jeffrey Leahy       
Sole director and 

shareholder 

FCI                  
Incorporated 24.07.12  
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Collas Crill 

125 Main Street 

Road Town 

PO Box 144 

Tortola  

British Virgin Islands 

 

20 June 2023 

 

 

By email only: 

 

Dave.marshall@collascrill.com 

David.harby@collascrill.com  

 

Alex Jay  

+44 (0)20 79037902 

ajay@stewartslaw.com 

Your ref: DM/60007368/0001 Our ref: 00107853.00003 

 

Dear Collas Crill 

Claim No. BVIHC(COM)2017/0193 – in the Matter of FCI Markets Inc. (In 

liquidation) (“FCI Markets”) 

1. We write further to your letter dated 1 May 2023.  

2. Thank you for your analysis on Exential BVI’s three grounds of claim set out in 

the proof of debt submitted on 3 December 2022 (the “Proof”). 

3. While we maintain that the breach of Quincecare claim asserted in paragraphs 

70 to 83 of the Proof is legally sustainable and our clients’ position on that claim 

is reserved, we note that your initial view is: (i) that it is unlikely Exential BVI 

has claims based upon a breach of Quincecare duty against FCI Markets and (ii) 

that it is likely Exential BVI has claims against FCI Markets on the basis of 

unlawful means conspiracy and that FCI Markets dishonestly assisted Mr Lemos 

in the commission of the Fraud subject to clarifying a couple of points. We also 

understand that Mr Pretlove (the “Liquidator”) wishes to focus upon further 

evaluating the unlawful conspiracy and dishonest assistance claims. In view of 

this, we focus in this letter on the points you have raised on these claims and 

deal with these in turn below.  

Exential BVI’s standing to bring a claim  

4. In your letter, you invite Exential BVI to provide evidence of its standing as a 

creditor of FCI Markets. We understand that your request is based upon your 

understanding that the Exential Group in which Mr Lemos claimed to be the CEO 

does not include Exential BVI and therefore it is not immediately apparent that 

there is a nexus between Exential BVI and FCI Markets, such that the former 

could claim to be a creditor of the latter.  
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5. It is evident from the Exential BVI Joint Liquidators’ investigations of the Fraud 

to date and the information and documents they have so far obtained that 

Exential BVI was a key part of the “Exential Group”. We would like to draw your 

attention in particular to paragraphs 12 to 18 of the Proof which summarises the 

make-up of the Exential Group and the corporate connections between the 

various entities. For ease of reference, these paragraphs from the Proof are 

copied below:  

12. “The core entities and main instigators of the Fraud making up the 

“Exential Group” included Exential Mideast Brokers, Tadawul ME and 

Exential Mideast Investment (the "UAE Exential Companies”) and 

Tadawul (BVI) Limited, Exential Corporation, Tadawul FX Limited, Capital 

Control ME Limited and Exential BVI (the “BVI Exential Companies”).  

13. The corporate records of these entities indicate that Mr Lemos is a common 

shareholder of Exential BVI and two of the UAE Exential Companies, 

Exential Mideast Brokers and Exential Mideast Investment. He was the sole 

owner of Exential BVI from 27 June 2013 and owns 49% of Exential 

Mideast Brokers and Exential Mideast Investment with the UAE resident Mr 

Mohamed Ali Abdalla. 

14. This common ownership connects Exential BVI to the UAE Exential 

Companies because the controlling shareholder of Exential BVI (who was 

the ringleader of the Fraud) also jointly owned two of the key UAE entities 

in the Fraud.  

15. There are also links between Exential BVI and the entire Exential Group at 

board/management level because Mr Lemos was a director of Exential BVI 

from 28 June 2013 and sole director from 1 July 2014 and held himself out 

to investors as CEO of the Exential Group. 

16. Mr Lemos’ co-shareholder in Exential Mideast Brokers and Exential Mideast 

Investment Mr Abdalla is the joint owner of Tadawul ME. Mr Lemos in turn 

was a Responsible Manager of Tadawul ME alongside the same Mr Abdalla. 

This demonstrates a connection between the owner of Exential BVI and 

three of the UAE Exential Companies in the Exential Group. All four 

companies (Exential BVI, Tadawul ME, Exential Mideast Brokers and 

Exential Mideast Investment) were managed or owned by the same 

individual, Mr Lemos.  

17. Further, it has not been confirmed but is considered to be highly likely that 

Mr Abdalla (knowingly or unknowingly) enabled Mr Lemos to defraud 

investors by acting as the UAE-citizen shareholder of the UAE Exential 

Group Companies in order to comply with UAE legal requirements.  

18. It is apparent from the above that the BVI Companies and the UAE 

Companies were under the de facto control, direction and management of 

Mr Lemos. A chart summarising the ownership of the Exential Group 

companies and a chart summarising the relevant management and 

directors of the Exential Group Companies is included in Sections 3 and 4 

of the Appendix to this supporting evidence.”  
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6. Significantly, in addition to the connections at the shareholder and director level, 

Exential BVI was contemporaneously described as a key component of the 

“Exential Group” in publications released by the group. In a Tadawul ME/Exential 

Group newsletter dated June 2014, Exential BVI is described as the “base” for 

the group’s offshore unit and noted as having responsibility of core functions 

such as the placing of accounts.1 As we highlighted in paragraph 21 of the Proof, 

screenshots from the Capital Control ME Website dated August 2013 reiterate 

this, stating: the “Exential Group” was an umbrella group incorporating at least 

“Exential BVI Inc” (Exential BVI) and “Tadawul ME”. Moreover, the website 

describes “Exential BVI Inc’s” (Exential BVI) as “operating the online system, is 

responsible for placing accounts, guarantees capital [and as] a member of the 

group”.2  

7. Notwithstanding the above, the fact that Exential BVI was a key component of 

the “Exential Group” can be further demonstrated by how the Fraud was 

perpetrated. According to witness evidence, investors in the “Exential Group” 

deposited monies in accounts which they were informed were being opened with 

one of the UAE Exential Companies (Tadawul ME), but were actually managed by 

Exential BVI or by one of the companies in the BVI Exential Group.3 By way of 

illustration, one investor who opened an account was informed that his 

investment was secure because “although [his] contract was with Exential and 

Tadawul in the UAE [these] were in effect “white label” companies of Exential 

and Tadawul and the companies which actually ran the scheme were 

incorporated in the BVI”.4 So when investors transacted with the UAE Exential 

Companies and deposited monies with them, they did so in the belief, trust and 

confidence that the services they were receiving were actually being provided by 

the BVI Exential Companies (including Exential BVI).  

8. In light of the above and the additional points made in the Proof on the issue5, 

Exential BVI was unquestionably a fundamental component of the “Exential 

Group”. These and, in addition, the matters particularised in paragraphs 24 to 48 

and 62 to 69 of the Proof which set out FCI’s connection to the Exential Group 

nexus in detail should alleviate any concern that there is an insufficient nexus 

between Exential BVI and FCI Markets.6  

Loss, causation and quantum  

9. We understand that on the evidence presently available to the Liquidator it is not 

apparent that Exential BVI ever deposited or transferred monies into any of FCI 

Markets’ accounts in the UAE.  

 

1 Tadawul Exential newsletter (June 2014) – Tab 15 of confidential schedule enclosed with the Proof. 

2 Screenshots from Capital Control ME Limited Website – Tab 5 of the confidential schedule enclosed with the Proof. 

3 Affidavit of Anthony Davies dated 30 October 2019 – Tab 20 of confidential schedule enclosed with the Proof. 

4 Affidavit of Anthony Davies dated 30 October 2019 – Tab 20 of confidential schedule enclosed with the Proof.  

5 See paragraphs 19 to 23 and 49 to 58 of the Proof. 
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10. However, this is not the basis for the loss sought in the Proof. The amount 

pleaded in the Proof under the unlawful conspiracy and the dishonest assistance 

heads of claim is approximately US$205 million. This figure represents the total 

quantum of submitted claims in the liquidation of Exential BVI as at the date of 

the Proof.  

11. The underlying rationale for the head of loss for each of the unlawful conspiracy 

and the dishonest assistance claims against FCI Markets is explained at 

paragraphs 62 to 65 and paragraphs 66 to 69 of the Proof respectively.  

12. On the unlawful conspiracy claim, in summary, had FCI Markets not combined 

together/acted in concert with Mr Lemos and his associates pursuant to an 

agreement or common understanding with an intention to cause financial loss to 

Exential BVI (and the wider Exential Group) by unlawful means (which is 

palpable from the evidence set out and annexed to the Proof), then Exential BVI 

would not be insolvent and facing liabilities of approximately US$205 million.   

13. In relation to the dishonest assistance claim, it is beyond doubt that Mr Lemos 

breached his fiduciary duty to Exential BVI by causing it to be used as part of the 

Fraud and eventually incur creditors’ claims amounting to approximately US$205 

million. FCI assisted7 Mr Lemos with the breach of fiduciary duty by holding itself 

out as a licensed foreign exchange broker for the Exential Group yet never 

conducted any investment for or on behalf of any investors and either 

overlooked or actively assisted the dissipation of investor funds to Mr Lemos and 

his associates. As such, FCI Markets is liable to pay equitable compensation, 

which would be calculated by reference to the quantum of submitted claims in 

the Exential BVI liquidation (as we explain further below).  

14. We acknowledge that the loss to Exential BVI under both the unlawful means 

conspiracy claim and dishonest assistance claim is not based on the value of 

specific payments made from Exential BVI to FCI Markets. As we explain below, 

the law applicable to both damages for unlawful conspiracy, and for dishonest 

assistance, allows a claimant to seek damages or compensation based on losses 

caused by conspiracy and/or breach of duty. 

Conspiracy 

15. It is important to note in this regard that damages for unlawful conspiracy 

claims, per Dillon LJ’s judgment in the Court of Appeal decision of Lonrho v 

Fayed (No 5) [1993] 1 WLR 1489 are “at large”.8 The following points can be 

gleaned from Dillon LJ’s judgment on the meaning of damages “at large”: 

15.1 The defendant is bound to make reparation for all the damage directly 

flowing from the conspiracy;  

 

7 As we explain in paragraph 67 of the Proof, it is not necessary to prove that FCI was aware of all the details of the Fraud or 

that they knew the facts which gave rise to the trust relationship between Mr Lemos and Exential BVI, it is enough that they 

simply knew they were assisting with the fiduciary to do something that amounted to a breach of duty (Ultraframe (UK) Ltd v 

Fielding [2005] EWHC 1638 (Ch).  

8 Lonrho v Fayed (No 5) [1993] 1 WLR 1489 at 1494-1498. 
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15.2 Although the damage need not have been foreseeable, it must have been 

directly caused by the conspiracy, but demonstrating the precise 

quantification is not necessary; 

15.3 In assessing such damage, the claimant is entitled to recover by way of 

damages any sums paid and all amounts foregone, but they must give 

credit for any benefits which they have received; 

15.4 The claimant is additionally entitled to recover consequential losses caused 

by the conspiracy.  

16. In Alesco Risk Management Services Ltd v Bishopsgate Insurance Brokers Ltd 

[2019] EWHC 2839, Freedman J further described damages “at large” in unlawful 

conspiracy means claims as meaning: 

“the Court is not limited to awarding that amount of loss which can be strictly 

proven; and that, in coming to a view as to the level of damages which a 

defendant ought to pay, the Court will consider all the circumstances of the case, 

including the conduct of a defendant and the nature of his wrongdoing”.9  

17. Fundamentally, your concern that Exential BVI is unable presently to 

demonstrate losses in the form of monies placed in the accounts of FCI Markets 

in the UAE does not take into account the Court’s approach to damages in 

unlawful means conspiracy claims. Exential BVI has suffered palpable pecuniary 

loss in the form of claims from creditors amounting to approximately US$205 

million leaving it hopelessly insolvent.   

18. That damage would have been foreseeable to FCI Markets at the time of the 

conspiracy (albeit foreseeability is not a strict requirement under this type of 

claim), because Exential BVI was used primarily as a vehicle for the promotion of 

the fraudulent scheme, inducing investors to make payments to it and its 

associated companies. It was obvious, therefore, that Exential BVI would be 

exposed to very substantial creditor claims arising from it being used in that 

way. The harm caused to Exential BVI was therefore both directly caused by the 

conspiracy between Mr Lemos, his associates and FCI Markets, and was a 

foreseeable outcome at the time.   

19. It is also relevant that FCI Markets was not itself a primary operator or promoter 

of the fraudulent scheme; it was a repository for fraudulently obtained funds and 

was used by Exential BVI and its associated companies to assist them in 

(fraudulently) inducing investors to part with their money. In addition, you also 

appear to acknowledge that the full extent of payments between the Exential 

Group entities and FCI Markets may not be fully understood, not least since to 

date that records of the Exential UAE companies have not been secured and 

reviewed.  

 

9 Alesco Risk Management Services Ltd v Bishopsgate Insurance Brokers Ltd [2019] EWHC 2839 (QB) at [387].  
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20. On the currently available documents FCI appears to have been involved in the 

fraudulent scheme as a broker of the Exential Group from at least March 201410 

until December 2016 (after the fraudulent scheme was shut down by the UAE 

authorities in July 2016). The Joint Liquidators have conducted a sample review 

of approximately 20% of the claims submitted in the Exential BVI liquidation 

totalling US$205 million to consider the dates when the investments to which the 

claims relate were made with the Exential Group Programme against the 

timeframe of FCI’s involvement in the scheme. Significantly, nearly all the sums 

claimed in the sample study were invested during the period of FCI’s 

involvement, demonstrating a causal connection between the sums claimed 

against Exential BVI and FCI’s involvement in the scheme and, in addition, for 

the reasons we explain below.    

21. First, it is important to note that a number of the claims submitted in the 

liquidation involve claims against specific Exential Group entities other than 

Exential BVI. As we explain in the Proof at paragraphs 49 to 50, all the Exential 

Group entities are jointly liable for the sums invested in the Exential Group and 

the UAE courts have already made judgments establishing their joint liability. As 

such, subject to a formal adjudication process in due course, the Joint 

Liquidators’ position is that all submitted claims in the Exential BVI liquidation 

constitute appropriate loss as they involve monies flowing into the Exential 

Group even if some of the claims are specifically against Exential Group entities 

other than Exential BVI.  

22. Second, and crucially, because of the joint liability across the Exential Group 

entities, the starting point for Exential BVI’s loss against FCI could be far higher 

than the US$205 million claimed in the Proof. Indeed, it has been estimated by 

the Joint Liquidators that the total loss to investors in the Exential Group globally 

could be approximately US$800 million.11 It is also significant to note in this 

regard that the UAE Exential Group entities are not in any form of viable 

insolvency process at present and may never be. As such, Exential BVI is the 

only main entity which orchestrated the Fraud that is in an insolvency process 

via which investors can submit claims. We consider it is therefore extremely 

likely that the quantum of submitted claims in Exential BVI will increase 

exponentially, and it is important that Exential BVI’s Proof and the quantum 

claimed is evaluated by the Liquidator against this wider context.    

Dishonest assistance 

23. The position is substantially the same when considering the measure of equitable 

compensation payable under the dishonest assistance claim. Equitable 

compensation in cases of breach of trust is valued as the amount required to 

restore the trust estate to its value as if the breach had not taken place.12 A "but 

for" test for causation may be applicable, even in cases of dishonesty or fraud, 

such that it is necessary to demonstrate that the losses would not have arisen in 

 

10 See paragraph 83 of the Proof. 

11 See paragraph 4 of the Proof. 

12 Lewin on Trusts para 41.019; Appleby Corporate Services (BVI) Limited v Citco Trustees (BVI) Limited BVIHC 

(COM) 0156 of 2011 (Judgment of Bannister J dated 20 January 2014) at [59]: "Citco's obligation is to reconstitute the trust 

fund to the value which it would have had if Citco had conscientiously performed its duty of supervision."). 
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any event.13 The assessment of loss "is not limited to the position at the date of 

breach, but may in principle take account of events up to the date of the trial."14 

The liability of a dishonest assistant is, in essence, the same as that of the 

primary trustee in whose breach of trust he assisted: "the liability of the 

assistant is for such loss as the trustee would be liable for, and it is not 

necessary to show that the assistance itself is causative of loss."15   

24. In this case, Mr Lemos' breach of trust, in which FCI Markets dishonestly 

assisted, led to the losses suffered by Exential BVI, quantified by reference to its 

liabilities of approximately US$205 million. Those losses simply would not have 

occurred were it not for the breach of trust and FCI Markets' assistance in it. 

Accordingly, that is clearly the appropriate measure of equitable compensation in 

this case. 

25. Taking all of the above into account, we would invite you to reconsider your 

position on the admission of Exential BVI’s Proof, and the amount for which it will 

be admitted. 

We look forward to hearing from you.  

Yours faithfully 

 

Stewarts 

 

 

13 Target Holdings Limited v Redferns [1996] AC 421, HL; AIB Group (UK) Plc v Mark Redler & Co. Solicitors [2015] 

AC 1503, SC. 

14 Lewin on Trusts para 43-053; Central Bank of Ecuador v Conticorp S.A. [2015] UKPC 11 at [170].  

15 Lewin on Trusts paragraph 43-053. 
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Dated: 25 June 2024 

SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT 

between 

FCI MARKETS INC (IN LIQUIDATION) 

MR. PAUL PRETLOVE  
IN HIS CAPACITY AS LIQUIDATOR OF FCI MARKETS INC (IN LIQUIDATION) 

EXENTIAL INVESTMENTS INC. (IN LIQUIDATION) 

MR DAVID STANDISH  
IN HIS CAPACITY AS LIQUIDATOR OF EXENTIAL INVESTMENTS INC (IN 

LIQUIDATION) 

AND 

MR RUSSELL CRUMPLER  
IN HIS CAPACITY AS LIQUIDATOR OF EXENTIAL INVESTMENTS INC (IN 

LIQUIDATION) 
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THIS AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is dated 25 June 2024 and made between: 

(1) FCI Markets Inc. (in liquidation), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with a
registered address at Trident Chambers, P.O. Box 146, Road Town, Tortola, British Virgin
Islands (“FCI Markets”)

(2) Mr. Paul Pretlove, of Interpath (BVI) Limited, Fishlock Rd, Road Town, Tortola, VG-1110,
British Virgin Islands, solely in his capacity as liquidator of FCI Markets (“FCI Markets
Liquidator”)

(3) Exential Investments Inc. (in liquidation), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
with a registered address at c/o Teneo (BVI) Limited, PO Box 2438, 3rd Floor, Banco Popular
Building, Road Town, Tortola VG-1110 (“Exential”)

(4) Mr. Russell Crumpler, of Teneo (BVI) Limited, PO Box 2438, 3rd Floor, Banco Popular Building, 
Road Town, Tortola VG-1110, British Virgin Islands solely in his capacity as liquidator of 
Exential  

(5) Mr. David Standish, of Interpath Ltd, 10 Fleet Place (9th floor) London, EC4M 7RB, United
Kingdom, solely in his capacity as liquidator of Exential (together with Mr. Crumpler, the
“Exential Liquidators”)

(each a “Party” and together, “Parties”).

WHEREAS 

(A) The BVI Court appointed Mr. Paul Pretlove and Ms. Angela Barkhouse as joint liquidators of
FCI Markets by an order of the BVI Court on 15 January 2018.

(B) Ms. Angela Barkhouse was removed as a liquidator of FCI Markets by an order of the BVI Court
on 13 July 2018.

(C) The BVI Court appointed Mr. David Standish and Mr. Russell Crumpler as joint liquidators of
Exential on 27 July 2020.

(D) The Exential Liquidators submitted the Exential Claim (as defined in Clause 1 below) to the FCI
Markets Liquidator on 3 December 2022.

(E) The Parties now wish to compromise the Exential Claim on the terms set out herein.

IT IS AGREED as follows: 

1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION 

Definitions 
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1.1 In this Agreement: 

“BVI Court” means the High Court of Justice of the Territory of the Virgin Islands (Commercial 
Division) and, where appropriate, the Court of Appeal of the Eastern Caribbean Supreme Court 
(Territory of the Virgn Islands). 

“Claims” means, subject to Clause 6.3 below, the actions, claims, rights, demands and set-offs, 
whether in the British Virgin Islands or any other jurisdiction, whether or not presently known to 
the Parties, and whether in law or equity, that any Party may have or hereafter can, shall or may 
have against any other Party arising out of or connected directly or indirectly with the Exential 
Claim, or the underlying facts relating to the Exential Claim.  

“Exential Claim” means the claim made by Exential against FCI Markets that Exential submitted 
to the FCI Liquidator by way of an updated Form R184 on 3 December 2022.  

“Exential Claim Determination” means the decision of the FCI Markets Liquidator on on the 
compromise, admission, or rejection of the Exential Claim in accordance with the Insolvency Act 
2003 in the FCI Markets liquidation proceedings. 

“Exential Sanction Application” means an application to be made by the Exential Liquidators in 
accordance with Clause 5 below to seek the sanction of the BVI Court to enter into this Agreement. 

“Exential Sanction Order” means an order of the BVI Court granting the Exential Sanction 
Application or otherwise permitting the Exential Liquidators to compromise the Exential Claim on 
the terms set out in this Agreement. 

“Final Distribution Date” means the date on which the FCI Markets Liquidator pays final 
distributions by way of dividend to admitted creditors in the liquidation of FCI Markets.  

“Pre-Contractual Statement” means any draft, agreement, undertaking, representation, warranty, 
promise, assurance or arrangement of any nature whatsoever, whether or not in writing, relating to 
the subject matter of this Agreement made or given by any person at any time prior to the date of 
this Agreement. 

“FCI Sanction Application” means an application to be made by the FCI Markets Liquidator in 
accordance with Clause 4 below to seek the sanction of the BVI Court to compromise the Exential 
Claim on the terms set out in this Agreement.  

“FCI Sanction Order” means an order of the BVI Court granting the FCI Sanction Application or 
otherwise permitting the FCI Markets Liquidator to compromise the Exential Claim on the terms 
set out in this Agreement.  

“Sanction Date” means the date that the BVI Court makes an order granting the FCI Sanction 
Application and the Exential Sanction Application, whichever is later. 

2 EFFECTIVENESS 

The parties hereby agree that this Agreement shall immediately be fully and effectively binding 
on them. 
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3 PAYMENT  

3.1 Upon the BVI Court making the FCI Sanction Order and the Exential Sanction Order, FCI Markets 
shall pay the following sums to the bank account detailed at Annex A: 

(a) within one week of the Sanction Date, the sum of US $700,000 (seven hundred thousand 
dollars); and 

(b) on the Final Distribution Date, the sum of US $700,000 (seven hundred thousand dollars). 

4 FCI MARKETS LIQUIDATOR’S UNDERTAKINGS  

4.1 The FCI Markets Liquidator undertakes to:  

(a) issue the FCI Sanction Application as soon as reasonably practicable and in any event 
within three weeks of the date of this Agreement.  

(b) take the following steps, subject to legal advice and the FCI Markets Liquidator 
determining that such steps are proper and in the best interest of the FCI Markets 
liquidation estate: 

(i) request that the FCI Sanction Application be determined by the BVI Court on the 
papers, assuming that no creditor or contributory objects to or challenges the FCI 
Sanction Application;  

(ii) request the BVI Court to determine the FCI Sanction Application in a similar 
timeframe to the Exential Sanction Application;  

(iii) support the FCI Sanction Application before the BVI Court; and  

(iv) support the Exential Sanction Application before the BVI Court.  

5 EXENTIAL LIQUIDATORS’ UNDERTAKINGS 

5.1 The Exential Liquidators undertake to: 

(a) issue the Exential Sanction Application as soon as reasonably practicable and in any event 
within three weeks of the date of this Agreement. 

(b) take the following steps, subject to legal advice and the Exential Liquidators determining 
that such steps are proper and in the best interest of the Exential liquidation estate: 

(i) request that the Exential Sanction Application determined by the BVI Court on the 
papers, assuming that no creditor or contributory objects to or challenges the 
Exential Sanction Application; 

(ii) request the BVI Court to determine the Exential Sanction Application in a similar 
timeframe to the FCI Sanction Application;  

(iii) support the FCI Sanction Application before the BVI Court;  

(iv) support the Exential Sanction Application before the BVI Court.  
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(c) subject to Clauses 6.2 and 6.3, refrain from challenging the Exential Claim Determination, 
save that if the Exential Claim Determination does not comply with the terms of this 
Agreement then the Exential Liquidators may challenge the Exential Claim Determination.  

6 WAIVER, RELEASES AND NON-DISPARAGEMENT 

6.1 Each Party shall not: 

a) publicly or in any communications with any third party (including the press or any journalist) 
make or publish any disparaging or derogatory remarks in relation to the matters compromised 
in this Agreement and the Agreement;  

b) procure or assist any third party to undertake, make, or publish any of the matters or statements 
of the type referred to in sub-paragraph 6.1(a) above on their behalf; or  

c) take any action which could reasonably be expected to defame the other Party unless the 
relevant Party has any applicable legal obligation to do so in response to or compliance with 
validly issued legal process or a request by a governmental authority or regulatory authority. 

6.2 Upon the Sanction Date, and subject to Clause 6.3 below, the Parties each agree that they 
irrevocably waive and unconditionally release and discharge any and all Claims against each other 
Party, in any jurisdiction, including (but not limited to): 

a) the Exential Claim;  

b) any claim that FCI Markets might have to set off the Exential Claim; and 

c) any application brought under section 273 of the Insolvency Act 2003 of the British Virgin 
Islands.  

6.3 Unless otherwise agreed in writing between the Parties, the waivers and releases and agreement not 
to sue at Clauses 6.2 shall not apply to any past, present or future claims, rights and causes of action 
in respect of any breach of this Agreement. 

7 CONFIDENTIALITY  

7.1 The terms of this Agreement, and the substance of all negotiations in connection with it, are 
confidential to the Parties and their advisers, who shall not disclose them to, or otherwise 
communicate them to, any third party other than: 

a) To the Parties’ respective auditors, insurers and lawyers on terms which preserve 
confidentiality; 

b) To the creditors and contributories of FCI Markets and Exential for the purposes of obtaining 
the Court’s sanction to enter into this Agreement;   

c) Pursuant to an order of a court of competent jurisdiction, or pursuant to any proper order or 
demand made by any competent authority or body where they are under a legal, regulatory or 
supervisory obligation to make such a disclosure;  

d) As far as necessary to implement and enforce any of the terms of this Agreement; and 
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e) The Parties are entitled to confirm the fact of, but not the terms of the settlement of the Exential 
Claim.  

8 NON-ADMISSION OF LIABILITY 

This Agreement is made without any admission of liability or wrongdoing on the part of any of the 
Parties. 

9 REPRESENTATIONS  

9.1 The Exential Liquidators and the FCI Markets Liquidator represent that, to the best of their 
knowledge, understanding, and belief:  

a) it is in the best interests of the liquidation estates of FCI Markets and Exential to enter into this 
Agreement.  

b) there is no reason to believe the Parties cannot enter into this Agreement.  

10 AMENDMENTS AND WAIVERS 

10.1 Any amendment or waiver to any term of this Agreement (including any term of any Schedule 
hereto) may only be made in writing with the approval of all Parties. 

11 ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

11.1 This Agreement constitutes the whole and only agreement between the Parties relating to the 
subject matter of this Agreement. 

11.2 Each party acknowledges that by entering into this Agreement it is not relying upon any Pre-
Contractual Statement which is not set out in this Agreement. 

11.3 Except in the case of fraud, no Party shall have any right of action against any other Party to this 
Agreement arising out of or in connection with any Pre-Contractual Statement except to the extent 
that it is repeated in this Agreement.  

12 COSTS 

Save as otherwise provided in this Agreement, each party shall bear its own legal and other costs 
in connection with the Exential Claim and this Agreement. 

13 PARTIAL INVALIDITY 

If, at any time, any provision of this Agreement is or becomes illegal, invalid or unenforceable in 
any respect under any law of any jurisdiction, neither the legality, validity or enforceability of the 
remaining provisions nor the legality, validity or enforceability of such provision under the law of 
any other jurisdiction will in any way be affected or impaired. 

14 GOVERNING LAW 

This Agreement and all contractual and non-contractual obligations arising from or connected with 
it shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the British Virgin Islands. 
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15 ENFORCEMENT 

Jurisdiction of BVI Court  

15.1 The courts of the British Virgin Islands have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute arising out 
of or in connection with this Agreement (including any dispute regarding the existence, validity or 
termination of this Agreement). 

No Other Remedy  

15.2 Exential and the Exential Liquidators further acknowledge and agree that the only remedy available 
to Exential in respect of a breach of any provision of this Agreement will be a claim against FCI 
Markets for damages for breach of contract and that it shall not have any claim or remedy in tort or 
otherwise, whether generally, or in respect of such breach. 
 

15.3 FCI Markets and the FCI Markets Liquidator further acknowledge and agree that the only remedy 
available to FCI Markets in respect of any breach of any provision of this Agreement will be a 
claim against Exential for damages for breach of contract and that it shall not have any claim or 
remedy in tort or otherwise in respect of such breach.  
 
No Trust  

 
15.4 Nothing contained in this Agreement, and no action taken pursuant to its provisions by either Party 

hereto shall create, or be construed to create, a trust, security, or priority over other creditors, of 
any kind, or a fiduciary relationship between the Parties. 
 
No Breach of Applicable Law  
 

15.5 Nothing in this Agreement shall require the FCI Markets Liquidator or the Exential Liquidators to 
do anything contrary to the Insolvency Act 2003 or any other applicable law. 
 

16 COUNTERPARTS 

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, and this has the same effect as if 
the signatures on the counterparts were on a single copy. 

17 GENERAL 

17.1 This Settlement Agreement shall be binding on the parties and their successors and assigns and the 
name of a party appearing herein shall be deemed to include the name of any such successor or 
assign. 

 

This Agreement has been entered into on the date stated at the beginning of this Agreement. 
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Executed by FCI MARKETS INC (IN LIQUIDATION) acting by the Liquidator Paul Pretlove 
without personal liability pursuant to the powers conferred on him by the order of The Honourable Mr 
Justice Neville Adderley dated 15 January 2018 
 
 
 
---------------------------------------------- 
Name: Paul Pretlove  
Date:  
Position: Liquidator of FCI Markets Inc  
 
 
 
Executed by PAUL PRETLOVE in his capacity as the Liquidator of FCI MARKETS INC (IN 
LIQUIDATION) acting in accordance with the powers conferred on him by the order of The 
Honourable Mr Justice Neville Adderley dated 15 January 2018 and without personal liability  
 
 
 
---------------------------------------------- 
Name: Paul Pretlove of Interpath (BVI) Limited 
Date: 
Position: Liquidator of FCI Markets Inc  
 
 
 
Executed by EXENTIAL INVESTMENTS INC. (IN LIQUIDATION) acting by the joint 
liquidators David Standish and Russell Crumpler without personal liability pursuant to the powers 
conferred on them by the order of The Honourable Mr Justice Adrian Jack dated 27 July 2020 
 
 
  
---------------------------------------------- 
Name: David Standish of Interpath Ltd 
Date:  
Position: Joint Liquidator of Exential Investments Inc.  
 
 
 
---------------------------------------------- 
Name: Russell Crumpler of Teneo (BVI) Limited 
Date: 20 June 2024 
Position: Joint Liquidator of Exential Investments Inc.  
 
 
 
 
 

25 June 2024

25 June 2024
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Executed by RUSSELL CRUMPLER in his capacity as a JOINT LIQUIDATOR OF EXENTIAL 
INVESTMENTS INC. (IN LIQUIDATION) acting in accordance with the powers conferred on him 
by the order of The Honourable Mr Justice Adrian Jack dated 27 July 2020 and without personal 
liability  
 
 
  
---------------------------------------------- 
Name: Russell Crumpler of Teneo (BVI) Limited 
Date: 20 June 2024 
Position: Joint Liquidator of Exential Investments Inc.  
 
 
 
Executed by DAVID STANDISH in his capacity as a JOINT LIQUIDATOR OF EXENTIAL 
INVESTMENTS INC. (IN LIQUIDATION) acting in accordance with the powers conferred on him 
by the order of The Honourable Mr Justice Adrian Jack dated 27 July 2020 and without personal 
liability  
 
 
 
---------------------------------------------- 
Name: David Standish of Interpath Ltd  
Date:  
Position: Joint Liquidator of Exential Investments Inc.  
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Executed by FCI MARKETS INC (IN LIQUIDATION) acting by the Liquidator Paul Pretlove 
without personal liability pursuant to the powers conferred on him by the order of The Honourable Mr 
Justice Neville Adderley dated 15 January 2018 
 
 
 
---------------------------------------------- 
Name: Paul Pretlove  
Date:  
Position: Liquidator of FCI Markets Inc  
 
 
 
Executed by PAUL PRETLOVE in his capacity as the Liquidator of FCI MARKETS INC (IN 
LIQUIDATION) acting in accordance with the powers conferred on him by the order of The 
Honourable Mr Justice Neville Adderley dated 15 January 2018 and without personal liability  
 
 
 
---------------------------------------------- 
Name: Paul Pretlove of Interpath (BVI) Limited 
Date: 
Position: Liquidator of FCI Markets Inc  
 
 
 
Executed by EXENTIAL INVESTMENTS INC. (IN LIQUIDATION) acting by the joint 
liquidators David Standish and Russell Crumpler without personal liability pursuant to the powers 
conferred on them by the order of The Honourable Mr Justice Adrian Jack dated 27 July 2020 
 
 
  
---------------------------------------------- 
Name: David Standish of Interpath Ltd 
Date: 20 June 2024 
Position: Joint Liquidator of Exential Investments Inc.  
 
 
 
---------------------------------------------- 
Name: Russell Crumpler of Teneo (BVI) Limited 
Date:  
Position: Joint Liquidator of Exential Investments Inc.  
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Executed by RUSSELL CRUMPLER in his capacity as a JOINT LIQUIDATOR OF EXENTIAL 
INVESTMENTS INC. (IN LIQUIDATION) acting in accordance with the powers conferred on him 
by the order of The Honourable Mr Justice Adrian Jack dated 27 July 2020 and without personal 
liability  
 
 
  
---------------------------------------------- 
Name: Russell Crumpler of Teneo (BVI) Limited 
Date:  
Position: Joint Liquidator of Exential Investments Inc.  
 
 
 
Executed by DAVID STANDISH in his capacity as a JOINT LIQUIDATOR OF EXENTIAL 
INVESTMENTS INC. (IN LIQUIDATION) acting in accordance with the powers conferred on him 
by the order of The Honourable Mr Justice Adrian Jack dated 27 July 2020 and without personal 
liability  
 
 
 
---------------------------------------------- 
Name: David Standish of Interpath Ltd  
Date: 20 June 2024 
Position: Joint Liquidator of Exential Investments Inc.  
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Annex A. Stewarts Account details 

 

Account Name: Stewarts Law LLP-General Client A/c 

Account no: 4505423693501  

BIC: CLYDGB2SXXX 

IBAN: GB55CLYD82810142369501 

Reference: AJ/NO/107853.3 
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Prepared in the New South Wales District Registry, Federal Court of Australia 

Level 17,  Law Courts Building, Queens Square, Telephone 02 9230 8567 

Federal Court of Australia 

District Registry: New South Wales 

Division: General  No: NSD1132/2020 

 

PAUL PRETLOVE AS LIQUIDATOR OF FCI MARKETS INC (IN LIQUIDATION|) 
Plaintiff 

 

JEFFREY LEAHY 
Defendant 

 

ORDER 
 

JUDGE: JUSTICE MARKOVIC 

DATE OF ORDER: 11 May 2021 

WHERE MADE: Sydney 

 

THE COURT ORDERS BY CONSENT THAT: 

1. Judgment for the plaintiff against the defendant in the amount of US$675,000.00 plus 

interest on judgment pursuant to s 52 of the Federal Court of Australia Act 1976 (Cth). 

2. The defendant pay the plaintiff’s costs as agreed or taxed. 

 

 

 

 

Date that entry is stamped: 13 May 2021 
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Prepared in the Sydney Registry 

Level 17,  Law Courts Building, Queens Square, Telephone 1300 720 980 

IN THE FEDERAL CIRCUIT and  

FAMILY COURT OF AUSTRALIA (DIVISION 2) 

AT SYDNEY 

 

File No: SYG877/2022 

 

PAUL PRETLOVE AS LIQUIDATOR OF FCI MARKETS INC. (IN 

LIQUIDATION) BVI REGISTERED COMPANY NO. 1725482 

Applicant 

 

JEFFREY LEAHY 

Respondent 

 

 

ORDER 

 

BEFORE: REGISTRAR MORGAN 

DATE: 11 August 2022 

MADE AT: SYDNEY 

 

THE COURT ORDERS THAT: 

1. The estate of Jeffrey Leahy be sequestrated under the Bankruptcy Act 1966.  

2. The Applicant Creditor’s costs fixed in the sum of $9208.00 be paid from the 

estate of the Respondent Debtor in accordance with the Bankruptcy Act 1966. 

3. A copy of this order is to be provided by the Applicant Creditor to the Official 

Receiver in Sydney within 2 days. 

THE COURT NOTES THAT: 

4. The date of the act of bankruptcy is 3 June 2022. 

5. A consent to act as trustee signed by Bruce Gleeson has been filed under section 

156A of the Bankruptcy Act 1966. 

 

Date entry is stamped: 11 August 2022 
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Prepared in the Sydney Registry 

Level 17,  Law Courts Building, Queens Square, Telephone 1300 720 980 

Note: 

Subsection 256(1) of the Federal Circuit and Family Court of Australia Act 2021 (the Act) provides that a 
party to proceedings in which a Registrar has exercised any of the powers of the Court under section 254 of 
the Act may, within the time prescribed by the Rules of Court, or within any further time allowed in 
accordance with the Rules of Court, apply to the Court to review that exercise of power. 

Rule 2.02(2) of the Federal Circuit and Family Court (Division 2) (Bankruptcy) Rules 2021 provides that, 
subject to any direction by the Court or a Judge to the contrary, an application under section 256 of the Act 
for review of the exercise of a power of the Court by a Registrar under section 254 of the Act must be made 
by filing an application in accordance with Form B3A within 21 days after the day on which the power was 
exercised. 
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